
CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 

Tuesday, August 9, 2016         City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.          16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

Note:  A Joint Study Session with the Human Services Commission is scheduled from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. 

CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 
• Chiefs for a Day Proclamation (Chiefs Ellie and Spencer)

PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows. * 

APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  July 26, 2016 Special Meeting-Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission

and July 26, 2016 Special & Regular Meeting Minutes (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)
C-3. Addendum to Interlocal Agreement with Covington Water District Regarding SR 516 – Jenkins

Creek to 185th Place SE Improvement Project (CIP 1127) (Vondran) 
C-4. Interlocal Agreement with City of Kent Regarding SR 516 - Jenkins Creek to 185th Place SE

Improvement Project (CIP 1127) (Vondran) 

PUBLIC HEARING 
1. Receive Public Testimony and Consider Ordinance Establishing New Title 19 CMC – Impact Fees,

Including Addition of Impact Fee Deferral Program, and Consider an Amendment to Fee
Resolution to Include Collection of an Administrative Fee for the Same (Lyons)

NEW BUSINESS 
2. Consider Appointments to the Economic Development Council (Council)
3. Parks and Recreation Priorities Advisory Committee (PRePAC) Final Recommendation

(Harjehausen)
4. Consider Awarding Contract for SE 256th Street Culvert Lining Project (CIP 1145A) (Vondran)
5. Consider Options for 20th Anniversary Celebration (Slate)

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS 

PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

EXECUTIVE SESSION – if needed 

ADJOURN 

Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 



Consent Agenda Item C-1 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  August 9, 2016  

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  JULY 26, 2016 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL 
MEETING-JOINT STUDY SESSION WITH PARKS & RECREATION 
COMMISSION MINUTES AND JULY 26, 2016 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL & 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Sharon G. Scott, City Clerk 

ATTACHMENT(S):  Proposed Minutes 

PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 

EXPLANATION:  

ALTERNATIVES:   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  Ordinance   _____ Resolution     X     Motion              Other 

Councilmember __________ moves, Councilmember ___________ 
seconds, to approve the July 26, 2016 City Council Special Meeting-
Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission Minutes 
and July 26, 2016 City Council Special & Regular Meeting Minutes. 

1 of 122



Unapproved Draft – July 26, 2016 Special Meeting-Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation 
Commission Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2016 

1 

City of Covington 
City Council Special Meeting 

Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission Minutes 
Tuesday, July 26, 2016 

The Special Meeting - Joint Study Session with the Parks & Recreation Commission was called to 
order in the City Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, 
Tuesday, July 26, 2016, at 6:12 p.m., with Mayor Pro Tem Smith presiding. 

COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Joe Cimaomo, Margaret Harto, Fran Hollums, Mark Lanza, Marlla Mhoon, and Sean Smith.  

COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Jeff Wagner 

PARKS & RECREATION COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: 
Conni Elliott, Bryan Higgins, Lisa Knapton, Laura Morrissey, and Zbigniew Tomalik. 

PARKS & RECREATION COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: 
Justin Reed and Troy McIntyre. 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: 
Regan Bolli, City Manager; Don Vondran, Public Works Director; Ethan Newton, Parks & Recreation 
Director; Angie Feser, Parks Planner; Pat Patterson, Recreation Manager; and Sharon Scott, City 
Clerk/Executive Assistant. 

Mayor Pro Tem Smith called the joint study session to order. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Mhoon moved and Councilmember Harto seconded to 
Approve the Agenda.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION: 
a. Update on Commission Work Plan.

Parks & Recreation Commission Chair Laura Morrissey provided a handout and gave the report 
on this item. 

Councilmembers and commissioners discussed and provided comments. 

b. Park Maintenance Services.

2 of 122



Unapproved Draft – July 26, 2016 Special Meeting-Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation 
Commission Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2016 
 
 

2 
 

Parks & Recreation Commission Chair Laura Morrissey gave the report on this item.  Mrs. 
Morrissey noted a need to support increased maintenance on existing parks and trails as well as 
future projects. 
 
Councilmembers and commissioners discussed and provided comments. 
 
c.  Aquatic Center Lifespan. 
 
Parks & Recreation Commission Chair Laura Morrissey gave the report on this item.  Mrs. 
Morrissey suggested city complete a facility condition assessment. 
 
Councilmembers and commissioners discussed and provided comments. 
 
d.  Parks Capital Improvement Plan. 
 
Parks Planner Angie Feser gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers and commissioners discussed and provided comments. 
 
It was also mentioned that special event postcards such as those used for Covington Days are an 
effective way of identifying new projects such as the skate park for increased media attention. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:06 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 
 

3 of 122



Unapproved Draft–July 26, 2016 Special & Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2016 
 
 

 1 

City of Covington 
Special & Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, July 26, 2016 
 
INTERVIEWS– 5:20-6:00 P.M.: 
The Council conducted interviews for openings on the Arts Commission.  Applicants interviewed 
included Emma McMeen and Will Cummings. 
 
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, July 26, 
2016, at 7:15 p.m., with Mayor Pro Tem Smith presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Joe Cimaomo, Margaret Harto, Fran Hollums, Mark Lanza, Marlla Mhoon, and Sean Smith. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Jeff Wagner 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Lanza moved and Councilmember Cimaomo seconded to 
excuse Mayor Wagner who had a family emergency.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Regan Bolli, City Manager; Don Vondran, Public Works Director; Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director; 
Andrew McCurdy, Covington Police Chief; Richard Hart, Community Development Director; Karla Slate, 
Communications & Marketing Manager; Ethan Newton, Parks & Recreation Director; Sara Springer, 
City Attorney; Salina Lyons, Principal Planner; Pat Patterson, Recreation Manager; Angie Feser, 
Parks Planner; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Smith opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Mhoon moved and Councilmember Harto seconded to 
approve the Agenda.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Pro Tem Smith called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Pro Tem Smith closed the public comment period. 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Minutes:  May 4, 2016 Black Diamond/Covington/Maple Valley Joint Meeting Minutes; 

June 14, 2016 City Council Special Meeting-Study Session Minutes; June 14, 2016 City 
Council Regular Meeting Minutes; June 28, 2016 City Council Regular Meeting Minutes; 
and July 12, 2016 City Council Special and Regular Meeting Minutes. 
 

C-2. Vouchers:  Vouchers #34325-34381, including ACH payments and electronic fund transfers, 
in the amount of $161,391.06, dated July 8, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll Checks 

4 of 122



Unapproved Draft–July 26, 2016 Special & Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2016 
 
 

 2 

#1005507659-1005507674 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits, in the amount of 
$191,720.06, dated July 15, 2016. 

 
C-3. Authorize the City Manager to Execute a Statutory Warranty Deed Accepting Ownership 

and Dedication of Real Property for the Construction of SE 272nd Street, as a Condition of 
Approval of Cedar Springs Commercial Site Development. 

 
Council Action:  Councilmember Lanza moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS: 
Human Services Commission – Chair Leslie Hamada reported on the July 14 meeting. 
 
Parks & Recreation Commission – Chair Laura Morrissey reported on the July 20 meeting. 
 
Arts Commission – Vice Chair Ed White reported on the July 14 meeting. 
 
Parks & Recreation Priorities Advisory Committee – Chair Jennifer Harjehausen reported on 
the June 29 meeting. 
 
Economic Development Council – City Manager Regan Bolli provided a CEDC update. 
 
Planning Commission – July meetings were canceled. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1.  Consider Appointment to Arts Commission. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Cimaomo moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
appoint Emma McMeen to fill open Position No. 3 on the Arts Commission with a term 
expiring May 31, 2017.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
2.  Approve Gerry Crick Skate Park Public Art Project Design. 
 
Parks Planner Angie Feser and Arts Commissioners Leslie Spero and Ed White gave the report on 
this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions.  Ms. Feser and Ms. Spero provided 
responses.  Councilmember Harto recommended that the Space Needle part of the design be 
changed to something more Covington oriented.  Councilmembers offered other minor changes to 
the design.  Ms. Spero emphasized that this design was purely a conceptual design.  
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Harto moved and Councilmember Cimaomo seconded to 
authorize the selection of the artist and conceptual design for the installation of a painted 
mural at the Gerry Crick Skate Park as recommended by the Arts and the Parks and 
Recreation Commissions.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
3.  Review 2016 Council Summit Action Items List. 

5 of 122



Unapproved Draft–July 26, 2016 Special & Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2016 
 
 

 3 

City Manager Regan Bolli gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Mr. Bolli provided responses. 
 
4.  Discuss Impact Fee Deferral Program. 
 
Principal Planner Salina Lyons gave the staff report and PowerPoint presentation on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Ms. Lyons provided responses. 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS: 
City Manager Regan Bolli provided updates to the August 9 Regular City Council Meeting 
Agenda. 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff made comments. 
 
Councilmember Cimaomo reminded that he would not be in attendance at the August 9 meeting 
due to the upcoming birth of his child. 
 
Councilmember Harto announced that she may not be in attendance at the August 9 meeting due 
to a medical appointment. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to appoint Councilmember Hollums to the 
South County Area Transportation Board. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Mayor Pro Tem Smith called for public comments. 
 
Elizabeth Porter, Covington resident, invited Council to visit her during National Night Out on 
Tuesday, August 2.  Ms. Porter also asked Council to consider preserving green space as we 
develop. 
 
Mary Pritchard, Covington resident, agreed with Councilmember Harto that the Space Needle 
should not be on the art at the skate park.  
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Pro Tem Smith closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:02 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 
 

6 of 122



Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 9, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Vouchers:  Vouchers #34382-34399, in the amount of $27,810.32, dated 
July 11, 2016; Vouchers #34400-34450, including ACH payments and electronic fund 
transfers, in the amount of $611,183.51, dated July 22, 2016; Vouchers #34451-34452, in the 
amount of $1,001.00, dated July 28, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1005568830-
1005568848 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits, in the amount of $205,405.29, dated July 
29, 2016. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers:  Vouchers #34382-34399, in the 
amount of $27,810.32, dated July 11, 2016; Vouchers #34400-34450, 
including ACH payments and electronic fund transfers, in the amount of 
$611,183.51, dated July 22, 2016; Vouchers #34451-34452, in the amount of 
$1,001.00, dated July 28, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1005568830-
1005568848 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits, in the amount of 
$205,405.29, dated July 29, 2016. 
  
 
   
   
   
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

7 of 122



8 of 122



9 of 122



10 of 122



11 of 122



12 of 122



13 of 122



14 of 122



15 of 122



16 of 122



17 of 122



18 of 122



19 of 122



20 of 122



21 of 122



22 of 122



23 of 122



24 of 122



25 of 122



Consent Agenda Item C-3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 9, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN ADDENDUM TO THE 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT WITH COVINGTON WATER DISTRICT 
REGARDING THE DESIGN, BID, AND CONSTRUCTION OF CWD 
FACILITIES  AS PART OF THE SR 516 – JENKINS CREEK TO 185TH PLACE 
SE IMPROVEMENT PROJECT (CIP 1127) 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):   
1.  Addendum to Interlocal Agreement with Covington Water District  
 
PREPARED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
In 2005, the City of Covington and Covington Water District (CWD) negotiated and ratified an 
Interlocal Agreement to coordinate construction efforts for future street improvement projects 
and water facility improvements within the same right-of-way.  The Interlocal Agreement was 
written to act as an umbrella agreement for future job specific agreements that could be included 
as an addendum to the Interlocal Agreement. 
 
The City and its design consultant, Tetra Tech, is in the process of designing the SR 516 – 
Jenkins Creek to 185th Place SE Project (CIP 1127).  As part of the Project, CWD will need to 
relocate and/or adjust some of their facilities.  CWD wants to utilize the City’s contract with 
Tetra Tech to design their facility modifications.  This addendum would allow them to utilize 
Tetra Tech and piggyback on our process and not be required to go through their own process of 
advertising for a consultant.  This also works well for the City as the same consultant will be 
designing both aspects of the Project.  
 
This addendum also allows for any easements needed for CWD’s facilities to be included as part 
of the Right-of-Way (ROW) acquisition process, and for CWD’s facilities to be included as a 
separate bid schedule when the City advertises the Project for bids. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Any costs associated with the design and ROW associated with CWD’s facilities will be the 
responsibility of CWD.  As the base agreements with the consultant(s) will be with the City of 
Covington, CWD will reimburse the City for the design costs associated with their facilities.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance               Resolution       X    Motion             Other  
 

Council member ______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute an Addendum to the 2005 
Interlocal Agreement with Covington Water District regarding the design, 
bid, and construction of CWD facilities as part of the SR 516 - Jenkins Creek 
to 185th Place SE Project, in substantial form as attached hereto. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

26 of 122



  ATTACHMENT 1 
 

ADDENDUM TO INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON AND COVINGTON WATER DISTRICT 

SR 516 – JENKINS CREEK TO 185TH PLACE SE IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

This ADDENDUM TO INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON AND COVINGTON WATER DISTRICT, regarding the SR 516 – 
Jenkins Creek to 185th Place SE Improvement Project, hereinafter referred to as the 
“Project Agreement,” is made between the City of Covington, a Washington municipal 
Corporation, located and doing business at 16720 SE 271st Street, Covington, 
Washington 98042, hereinafter referred to as the "City," and Covington Water District, 
located and doing business at 18631 SE 300th Place, Covington, WA 98042, hereinafter 
referred to as the "District.”  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the City and District entered into an Interlocal Agreement in 2005, a 
copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this 
reference, to serve as an umbrella agreement to coordinate construction efforts for future 
street improvement projects and water facility improvements within the same right-of-
way area, hereinafter referred to as the “Interlocal Agreement;” and 

WHEREAS, the City and District intend that this Project Agreement shall 
supplement the Interlocal Agreement, except as specifically provided herein; and 

WHEREAS, the City is in the process of designing and constructing a roadway 
improvement project (CIP 1127), commonly known as SR 516 – Jenkins Creek to 185th 
Place SE Improvement Project, hereinafter referred to as the “Project; and  

WHEREAS, the City intends to widen and improve SR 516 (SE 272nd Street) 
between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place; and 

WHEREAS, the City has previously requested all utility purveyors in the 
immediate vicinity of the Project to relocate or adjust their facilities as needed and to 
determine any needed system improvements in the Project vicinity; and 

WHEREAS, the District, which has a franchise with the City to provide water 
service in the vicinity of the Project, owns and operates water distribution and 
transmission facilities within the immediate Project vicinity and has a Comprehensive 
Capital Improvement Plan which provides for expanded transmission capabilities with 
the Project vicinity; and 

WHEREAS, the City and District wish to share in the mutual benefits of 
constructing the roadway and water system improvements concurrently, with the City 
acting as the Lead Agency; and 

27 of 122



 2 

WHEREAS, Stantec, Inc. will prepare plans and specifications for water system 
improvements in the corridors within the Project vicinity, and will be a sub consultant to 
the City’s consultant in providing said plans and cost estimates to the City in preparing 
contract documents for the Project; and 

WHEREAS, a single contract document will be prepared incorporating both City 
and District improvement elements, along with other private and public utility needs; and 

WHEREAS, the final Plans and Specifications will be developed by the City’s 
Consultant, Tetra Tech, Inc.; and   

WHEREAS, the District’s water system improvements, hereinafter referred to as 
the “District’s Work,” generally consist of relocating and adding water mains within the 
corridor, along with additional fire hydrant assemblies and interties with the existing, 
distribution system in the area; and 

WHEREAS, specific water system improvements that are part of the District’s 
Work will be identified as “Schedule B” within the Project construction and bid 
documents; and 

WHEREAS, the City intends to advertise for competitive bids for the Project, 
including that portion of the Project that is the District’s Work; and 

WHEREAS, the City will furnish the District with the bids submitted, and the 
District may approve or disapprove the bid of the low bidder as determined by the City as 
the lowest responsible bidder for the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the City and District wish to supplement the Interlocal Agreement by 
partnering with one another in the SR 516 – Jenkins Creek to 185th Place SE 
Improvement Project, and setting forth the scope of work and allocation of design costs 
for the Project; 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions, covenants, and 
performances contained in this Project Agreement, or attached and incorporated herein, 
and in the exercise of the authority granted by the Interlocal Cooperation Act, the City 
and District hereby agree as follows: 

Section 1.  Purpose.  The purpose of this Addendum to the Interlocal Agreement, 
hereinafter “Project Agreement,” is to set forth the rights, obligations, scope of work and 
allocation of design and right-of-way costs for the SR 516 – Jenkins Creek to 185th Place 
SE Improvement Project between the City and District.   

Section 2.  General.  The City shall be deemed the Lead Agency and the District shall be 
deemed the Other Party for purposes of this Project Agreement, as those terms are 
intended in the Interlocal Agreement.  Except as modified herein, this Project Agreement 

28 of 122



 3 

shall supplement the Interlocal Agreement.  In the case of any conflict between the 
Interlocal Agreement and this Project Agreement, this Project Agreement shall control. 

Section 3.  Construction Plans.  Plans, specifications and cost estimates for the 
District’s Work will be prepared by the City generally in accordance with the current 
State of Washington Standard Specifications for Road, Bridge and Municipal 
Construction, District Standard Specifications as applicable, and adopted design 
standards.  The District hereby authorizes the City’s Consultant, Tetra Tech, Inc. to 
prepare plans for the District’s improvements within the project area, utilizing Stantec, 
Inc. as their sub-consultant.  
 
Section 4.  Construction.  The City is hereby designated as the District’s design agent, 
acting for and on behalf of the District, for that portion of the Project that involves 
District Work.  The City agrees to design the improvements related to the District’s Work 
utilizing Stantec, Inc. as a sub-consultant.  The City shall be responsible for administering 
the Project contract, as awarded to Tetra Tech, Inc. and approved by the District.  As 
design agent, the City will perform all engineering and shall make all payments to the 
Engineers.  The City will keep the District advised as to the progress of said Project.  The 
City, as design agent, shall have final discretion with regard to decisions related to the 
work of the Engineer, after consulting with the District on those portions of the Project 
that are related to the District’s Work.  
 
Section 5.  Authority to Design.  The District hereby authorizes the City to proceed with 
the design and right-of way acquisition for the purpose intended by this Project 
Agreement. 
 
Section 6.  Payment.  The District, in consideration of the faithful performance of the 
work to be done by the City, agrees to reimburse the City for the actual direct cost of all 
work specified below that is the financial responsibility of the District and all costs 
reasonably incurred by the City, and approved by the District in performing the District’s 
Work, and shall take all necessary action to pledge, budget, and allocate the same.  
Payment shall be made by the District to the City within 30 days, upon the request of the 
City, to cover actual direct costs incurred by the City.  Payments delayed beyond 30 days 
shall include interest payments of 1 percent per month.  Costs shall include the following:   

1. The Engineers design costs for the District’s work, as detailed in EXHIBIT “B”; 
2. The Engineer’s administration of the sub-consultant services for the District’s 

work, as shown in EXHIBIT “B”; 
3. The City Right-of-Way agent’s work for the acquisition of easements required for 

the exclusive placement of District facilities 
4. The direct cost of easements for the exclusive use of District facilities. 
5. The cost of all changes initiated by the District; and 
6. The direct costs incurred by the City in performing the District’s work.  

Section 8.  Extra Work.  In the event of unforeseen circumstances which require an 
increase in the District’s cost obligation more than that included in the Cost of Work, 

29 of 122



 4 

this Project Agreement will be modified by supplemental agreement covering said 
increase.  In the event it is determined that any “substantial change” from the 
description of the work contained in this Project Agreement is required, written 
approval must be secured from the District before the beginning of such work.  
“Substantial change” is defined as any changes requiring an increase in the District’s 
financial obligation (per Cost of Work) of greater than 25 percent.  The City shall 
provide prior written notice for all changes to the District’s portion of the work 
regardless of the financial obligation. 

Section 9.  Final Acceptance.  The District shall have final approval of the design for 
District facilities.  The District agrees upon satisfactory completion of the design, as 
determined by the District, to deliver a letter of acceptance approving the District’s 
portion of the Project.  Acceptance shall not constitute acceptance of any unauthorized 
or defective work or materials, nor be a waiver of any manufacturer’s, supplier’s, or 
contractor’s warranties.  Final acceptance of the entire design shall be by the City after 
review by all agencies involved. 

Section 10.  Legal Relations.  Legal relations shall be controlled by the Interlocal 
Agreement.  All terms and obligations of the Interlocal Agreement that are not covered 
by this Project Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 11.  Written Notice.  All communications regarding this Project Agreement 
shall be sent to the parties at the addresses listed on the signature page unless changed 
by written notification.  Any written notice hereunder shall become effective upon the 
date of mailing by registered or certified mail, and shall be deemed sufficiently given if 
sent to the addressee at the address stated in this Project Agreement, or such other 
address as may be hereafter specified in writing. 

Section 12.  Assignment.  Any assignment of this Project Agreement by either party 
without the written consent of the non-signing party shall be void. 

Section 13.  Effective Date.  This Project Agreement shall be effective as to all parties 
on the last date signed below. 

30 of 122



 5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Project Agreement by 
their authorized officers indicated below: 

City of Covington Covington Water District 
16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100 18631 SE 300th Place 
Covington, WA 98042 Kent, WA 98042 

BY____________________________ BY___________________________ 

ITS___________________________ ITS__________________________ 

DATE_________________________ DATE________________________ 

 

ATTEST: ATTEST: 

_________________________________ ____________________________ 
CITY CLERK, CITY OF COVINGTON COVINGTON WATER DISTRICT  

APPROVED AS TO FORM: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

________________________________ ______________________________ 
CITY OF COVINGTON ATTORNEY COVINGTON WATER DISTRICT 
 ATTORNEY  

 
 

 

31 of 122



EXHIBIT A

32 of 122



33 of 122



34 of 122



35 of 122



36 of 122



37 of 122



38 of 122



39 of 122



40 of 122



41 of 122



Scope of Work - Supplement #3 Page 1 SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 
Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 

WORK ELEMENT 18.  COVINGTON WATER DISTRICT WATER 
SYSTEM DESIGN  

The Covington Water District is relocating/replacing a new water main (1) and crossing (1) of 
Jenkins Creek as part of the City of Covington SE 272nd Street (SR 516) project.  The 
CONSULTANT shall coordinate with the Covington Water District to determine the extent of the 
water main improvements, construction sequence and operational limitations during construction. 
The CONSULTANT shall then design the water main and associated appurtenances in 
conformance with the Covington Water District’s design standards and incorporate into the current 
City of Covington project plan set.  Specific activities will include: 

Assumptions: 

• Project will include federal funding and applicable funding conditions will apply

• Covington Water District’s  standards and specifications will be used where applicable

• An inter-local agreement will be executed between the Covington Water District and the
City of Covington

• A bid schedule will be established to capture Covington Water District costs related to
design and construction

• The Covington Water Districts new improvements will lie within the impact limits
established in the permitting documents for the project.  As such, no additional permitting
is anticipated.

• Assumes one crossing of Jenkins creek (16 inch) for the Covington Water District
Transmission Main with an estimated total of 2800 LF of main design.  The 16 inch line
will connect into an existing main (12 inch) running along the North side of the corridor
plus connect into a new 12 inch main running along the south side of the corridor east of
Jenkins creek.  Approximately 2000 lf of new main along the south side of the corridor
will be designed along with 800LF of 16 inch main used to manifold and cross Jenkins
creek including a 30 inch steel casing.

Specific activities will include: 

Work Element 18.1 District Coordination 
The CONSULTANT shall coordinate with Covington Water District on the design of new water 
main to be constructed as well as existing mains and related water facilities to be abandoned or 
replaced during construction. Two (2) meetings with Covington Water District at three (3) hours 
per meeting are assumed as well as coordination via telephone, email and letter for this effort. 

Deliverable(s): 

• Attend Meetings

EXHIBIT B

42 of 122



 
Scope of Work Supplement #3 Page 2 SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 

Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 
 

• Prepare Meeting Minutes 
• Telephone Logs and Notes 

 
 
Work Element 18.2 Project QA/QC 
The CONSULTANT shall provide QA/QC activities, reviews and documentation.  These activities 
will include senior engineer reviews, documentation and internal audits of project required 
procedures.   

Deliverable(s): 

• Senior Reviews and Documentation 
• Submittal Reviews and Documentation 
• QA/QC File Documentation and Checklists 

 
Work Element 18.3 Concept Design & Construction Sequence 
The CONSULTANT shall develop and submit concept plans level showing the conceptual 
horizontal and vertical layout of the proposed water main improvements in order to identify space 
requirements within the right-of-way.  The technical memo will identify the anticipated 
construction cost and construction sequence needed to accommodate the construction of the 
crossing and for water main, including outages.  The concept will be laid out on base drawings 
provided by the CONSULTANT. 
 

Deliverable(s) 

• Construction Sequence memo and operational limitations during construction 
• Five (5) concept plan and profile view sheets 
• Concept Level Cost Estimate 

 
Work Element 18.4 Utility Coordination Associated with Water Main Design 
The CONSULTANT will identify and document possible utility conflicts associated with water 
main design.  After the conceptual design is completed potential utility conflicts will be identified 
and documented in matrix from.  This matrix will be used to track the actions needed to address 
the conflicts, including potholing. 
 

Deliverable(s) 

• Utility Conflict Matrix 
• Utility Pothole Plan 
• Utility Pothole Data Table 
 

Work Element 18.5 30% Design PS&E 

43 of 122



 
Scope of Work Supplement #3 Page 3 SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 

Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 
 

Develop and submit construction plans to a 30% design level showing the conceptual horizontal 
and vertical layout of the proposed water main improvements in order to identify space 
requirements within the right-of-way.  The CONSULTANT shall prepare a 30% engineer’s 
estimate using Covington Water District standard bid items to reflect the expected construction 
cost for the project.  Specifications will not be provided for this submittal. The design will be laid 
out on base drawings provided by The CONSULTANT.  The CONSULTANT’s project manager 
will perform the QA/QC review on the 30% submittal documents. The CONSULTANT shall 
include information pertaining to the horizontal and vertical alignment of other known planned 
utilities.  In addition, roadway improvements near the horizontal alignment of the transmission 
mains (i.e., type and location of retaining walls – including extents of any planned geotextile 
reinforcing) at the time of reviews. 
 
The 30% construction plans shall include the following: 
 

Deliverable(s): 

• Five (5) plan and profile view sheets (Digital and Hard Copy) 
• 30% water main estimate (Digital and Hard Copy) 

 

Work Element 18.6 60% Design PS&E 
Develop and submit 60% design PS&E.  The 60% design PS&E will include detailed plan and 
profile views of the water main improvements so that any conflicts with other utilities or design 
elements can be determined and resolved.  Connection details, as well as other construction details 
will be developed sufficiently to understand the construction requirements of the project.  The 60% 
Construction Specifications will be based on the CITY’s boilerplate special provisions and 
Covington Water District’s standard specifications.  The 60% engineer’s estimate will use the City 
of Covington’s standard bid items (WSDOT) to reflect the expected construction cost for the 
project.  The CONSULTANT shall address all 30% review comments on the proposed water main 
improvements. and perform QA/QC reviews by its project manager and construction observer on 
the 60% submittal document.  The construction observer’s review will focus on constructability 
issues.  The CONSULTANT shall include information pertaining to the horizontal and vertical 
alignment of other known planned utilities.  In addition, roadway improvements near the horizontal 
alignment of the transmission mains (i.e., type and location of retaining walls – including extents 
of any planned geotextile reinforcing) at the time of reviews.  The 60% construction plans shall 
include the following: 
 

Deliverable(s): (Digital and Hard Copy) 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements 
• Three (3) detail sheets 
• 60% water main specifications 
• 60% water main estimate 
• 30% comment matrix 

44 of 122



 
Scope of Work Supplement #3 Page 4 SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 

Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 
 

Work Element 18.7 90% Design PS&E 
Develop and submit 90% design PS&E.  The 90% design PS&E will include detailed plan and 
profile views of the water main improvements.  The design elements will be cross-checked with 
the other street and utility improvements to eliminate the major conflicts.  Minor conflicts will be 
addressed during the 90% quality management review.  The connection details and other 
construction details will be sufficiently designed that potential bidders could conceivably construct 
the project.  All references and callouts will be checked to assure continuity within the design.  
specifications will be developed that describe the elements included in each bid item, how each 
bid item will be measured and paid, and the material and construction requirements.  The 60% 
construction cost projections will be refined to provide an updated projection of probable 
construction cost. The CONSULTANT shall address all 60% review comments on the proposed 
water main improvements and perform QA/QC reviews by its project manager, quality control 
manager, construction observer, and principal in charge on the 90% submittal document.  The 
CONSULTANT shall include information pertaining to the horizontal and vertical alignment of 
other known planned utilities.  In addition, roadway improvements near the horizontal alignment 
of the transmission mains (i.e., type and location of retaining walls – including extents of any 
planned geotextile reinforcing) at the time of reviews.  The 90% construction plans shall include 
the following: 
 

Deliverable(s): (Digital and Hard Copy) 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements 
• Three (3) detail sheets 
• 90% water main specifications 
• 90% water main estimate 
• 60% comment matrix 

Work Element 18.8 100% Design PS&E 
The CONSULTANT shall develop and submit the 100% design PS&E addressing all comments 
from the 90% review and should represent documents nearly ready to advertise for bids. This effort 
is assumed to be minor and that no design changes will have occurred after the 90% design has 
been completed.  The CONSULTANT shall perform a final QA/QC review to ensure that all 
design elements have been addressed and the documents are ready to be advertised for bids by the 
CITY.  The 100% level cost estimate for the project will be sufficiently detailed to determine a 
fair price for the work to be performed, and to provide a basis for evaluating contractor bids.  The 
CONSULTANT shall include information pertaining to the horizontal and vertical alignment of 
other known planned utilities.  In addition, roadway improvements near the horizontal alignment 
of the transmission mains (i.e., type and location of retaining walls – including extents of any 
planned geotextile reinforcing) at the time of reviews.  The 100% construction plans shall include 
the following: 
 

Deliverable(s): (Digital and Hard Copy) 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements 
• Three (3) detail sheets 

45 of 122



 
Scope of Work Supplement #3 Page 5 SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 

Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 
 

• 100% water main specifications 
• 100% water main estimate 
• 90% comment matrix 

 

Work Element 18.9 Final Design PS&E 
The CONSULTANT shall make minor revisions, as necessary, to the PS&E to incorporate the 
100% review comments.  The final contract plans will include all complete stamped drawings with 
date and signature.  The contract provisions document will be complete and be ready to use during 
bid advertisement.  The CONSULTANT shall also prepare a final engineer’s estimate of probable 
construction costs. This effort is assumed as a minor effort to address minor plan and specification 
issues.  Design changes are not provided for this submittal.  The 100% construction plans shall 
include the following sheets: 
 

Deliverable(s): (Digital and Hard Copy) 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements 
• Three (3) detail sheets 
• Final water main specifications 
• Final water main estimate 
• 100% comment matrix 

 

Work Element 18.10 Bidding Assistance 
The CONSULTANT shall respond to written questions and review substitution requests where 
engineering effort is required from potential bidders.  The CONSULTANT shall prepare up to two 
(2) addenda if required.  Plans and specifications shall be modified as required to clarify Bidder’s 
questions.   
 

Deliverable(s): (Digital and Hard Copy) 

• Written Responses to questions 
• Prepare up to Two (2) addenda 

 

46 of 122



CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY

Project: City of Covington
SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE
Tetra Tech
Fee Estimate

Tetra Tech

DIRECT SALARY COST (DSC):

Classification Hours X Rate Cost

1. Project QA/QC Manager 6 62.00 $372.00

2. Project Manager/Sr. Supervising Engineer 46 69.39 $3,191.94

3. Project Engineer/Senior Engineer 44 53.50 $2,354.00

4. Staff Engineer 20 45.00 $900.00

5. CADD / Technical Support 8 35.00 $280.00

6. Project Administrator 20 28.00 $560.00

7. Struct Project Manager 0 71.74 $0.00

8. Senior Structural Engineer 0 50.00 $0.00

9. Junior Structural Engineer 0 34.06 $0.00

10. Structural CAD 0 30.00 $0.00

11. Structural Administration 0 28.00 $0.00

12. Survey Manager 0 47.99 $0.00

13. Computations Technician 0 42.00 $0.00

14. Survey CADD 0 30.00 $0.00

15. Field Tech 3 0 33.00 $0.00

16. Field Tech 2 0 25.00 $0.00

17. Survey Admin 0 27.00 $0.00

SUBTOTAL - DSC 144 $7,657.94

OVERHEAD (OH) COST (Including Salary Additives)

OH Rate X DSC or 151.00% X $7,657.94 $11,563.49

FIXED FEE (FF):

FF Rate = 30% X ( $7,657.94 ) $2,297.38

REIMBURSABLES:

Mileage ( 250 Miles X 0.54/mile ) $135.00

Survey Mileage ( Miles X 0.555/mile ) $0.00

Reprographics

APS (Potholing) $1,000.00

Courier $200.00

$1,335.00

SUBTOTAL $22,853.81

SUBCONSULTANTS

Stantec $70,043.16

GRAND TOTAL - ESTIMATED FEE $92,896.97

Prepared By: cjp Date: 4/6/2016

Checked By: cjp Date: 4/6/2016

TT FEE

47 of 122



CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY
City of Covington

SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE
Tetra Tech

Fee Estimate
Project Project Project Staff Tech. Project SurveyHOURS TOTAL

MAJOR TASK DESCRIPTION QA/QC Manager Engineer Engineer Support Admin AdminTOTAL

18.0 Covington Water District System Design
18.1 Covington Water District Coordination 10 10 2 22 3,610.57$
18.2 Project QA/QC 6 6 4 2 18 2,973.93$
18.3 Concept Design and Construction Sequence 4 4 4 4 2 18 2,437.85$
18.4 Utility Coordination Associated with Water Main Design 4 12 4 4 2 26 3,640.53$
18.5 30% Design PS&E 4 4 4 2 14 2,044.45$
18.6 60% Design PS&E 4 2 2 2 10 1,490.88$
18.7 90% Design PS&E 4 2 2 2 10 1,490.88$
18.8 100% Design PS&E 4 2 2 2 10 1,490.88$
18.9 Final Design PS&E 4 2 2 2 10 1,490.88$
18.10 Bidding Assistance 2 2 2 6 848.00$

TOTAL 6 46 44 20 8 20 144 21,518.85$

TASK

48 of 122



CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY

Project: City of Covington
SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE
Stantech
Fee Estimate

Stantec

DIRECT SALARY COST (DSC):

Classification Hours X Rate Cost

1. Principal/Project Manager (CPS/EJW) 80 65.13 $5,210.40

2. Senior Project Engineer QA/QC (SKS) 62 54.49 $3,378.38

3. EIT Designer (SMA) 130 32.29 $4,197.70

4. Sr. Eng. Technician (JEG) 114 46.69 $5,322.66

5. CADD Technician (BLG) 74 32.11 $2,376.14

6. Project Administrator (RCS) 15 40.87 $613.05

SUBTOTAL - DSC 475 $21,098.33

OVERHEAD (OH) COST (Including Salary Additives)

OH Rate X DSC or 186.04% X $21,098.33 $39,251.33

FIXED FEE (FF):

FF Rate = 30% X ( $21,098.33 ) $6,329.50

REIMBURSABLES:

Mileage ( 600 Miles X 0.54/mile ) $324.00

Computer time $2,040.00

Reprographics $1,000.00

Courier $0.00

$3,364.00

SUBTOTAL $70,043.16

SUBCONSULTANTS

GRAND TOTAL - ESTIMATED FEE $70,043.16

Prepared By: Chris Schmidt - Stantec Date: 4/6/2016

Checked By: Chris Schmidt - Stantec Date: 4/6/2016

Stantech FEE

49 of 122



CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY
City of Covington

SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE
Stantech

Fee Estimate
PIC/PM PE EIT Sr. Tech. CAD Admin. HOURS TOTAL

MAJOR TASK DESCRIPTION CPS/EJW SKS SMA JEG BLG RCS TOTAL

-$
18.0 Covington Water District Upgrade Design

18.1 Coordination 4 4 2 10 1,671.92$
18.2 Project QA/QC 16 8 4 4 32 5,669.51$
18.3 City Concept design & Construction Sequence 4 8 8 8 2 30 4,456.23$
18.4 Utility Coordination Associated with Water Main Design 4 4 6 8 22 3,304.95$
18.5 30% Design PS&E 10 8 14 20 14 2 68 9,494.98$
18.6 60% Design PS&E 10 8 22 20 14 2 76 10,311.37$
18.7 90% Design PS&E 10 8 26 20 18 2 84 11,125.49$
18.8 100% Design PS&E 10 8 26 14 18 2 78 10,240.14$
18.9 Final Design PS&E 10 8 22 14 10 2 66 9,020.10$
18.10 Bidding Assistance 2 2 2 2 1 9 1,384.48$

TOTAL 80 62 130 114 74 15 475 66,679.17$

TASK

50 of 122



Consent Agenda Item C-4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 9, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN INTERLOCAL 

AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF KENT REGARDING THE DESIGN, BID, 
AND CONSTRUCTION OF CITY OF KENT UTILITY FACILITIES AS PART 
OF THE SR 516 – JENKINS CREEK TO 185TH PLACE SE IMPROVEMENT 
PROJECT (CIP 1127)  

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):   
1.  Interlocal Agreement 
 
PREPARED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The City of Kent has transmission water mains in the Right-of-Way (ROW) of SR 516 through 
the City of Covington.  As part of any capital improvement project along the SR 516 corridor, 
there may be a need for utilities to be relocated.  It is the responsibility of the utility (City of 
Kent in this case) to relocate those facilities.  In particular, as part of the design for CIP 1127 - 
SR 516: Jenkins Creek to 185th Project, there is a need for the transmission water mains to be 
relocated in conjunction with constructing the new bridge over Jenkins Creek.  
 
This Interlocal Agreement (ILA) will allow the City of Kent to piggyback on our design 
agreement with Tetra Tech and also allow them to piggyback on any ROW needs as well as our 
bidding and completion of CIP 1127.  This is similar to our ILA with the Covington Water 
District.  This ILA benefits Kent by not being required to advertise for their own design 
consultant or bid and manage a separate construction project.  This benefits the city by having all 
project work designed by the same consultant, bid by the city, and built by the same contractor. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Any costs associated with the design, ROW or construction of City of Kent utility facilities will 
be the responsibility of the City of Kent.  This will operate in a reimbursement type manner to 
the City of Covington, as the base agreements with the consultant(s) and contractor will be with 
the City of Covington.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance               Resolution       X    Motion             Other  
 

Council member ______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute an Interlocal Agreement 
with the City of Kent regarding the design, bid, and construction of City of 
Kent utility facilities as part of the SR 516 - Jenkins Creek to 185th Place SE 
Improvement Project (CIP 1127), in substantial form as attached hereto. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

51 of 122



INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITIES OF COVINGTON AND KENT 

FOR JOINT PUBLIC WORKS OPERATIONS FOR CIP1127 
SE 272ND ST. (SR 516) IMPROVEMENTS 

BETWEEN JENKINS CREEK AND 185TH PLACE SE 

THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into between the CITY OF 
COVINGTON, a Washington municipal corporation (“Covington”), and the CITY OF KENT, a 
Washington municipal corporation (“Kent”), (collectively the “Parties” or “Cities” or  in the 
singular “Party” or “City”). 

WHEREAS, the Parties are “public agencies” as defined by Chapter 39.34 RCW, and 
through the provisions of that Chapter are authorized by state law to enter into interlocal 
agreements on the basis of mutual advantage and thereby to provide services and facilities in the 
manner and pursuant to forms of governmental organization that will accord best with geographic, 
economic, population, and other factors influencing the needs of local communities; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 39.34.030 authorizes an agreement for joint or cooperative action by a 
public agency upon appropriate legislative action by the governing body of each agency prior to 
entry into such agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties have similar operational needs in relationship to Covington’s 
public works capital improvement project CIP 1127, SE 272nd St. (SR 516) Improvements between 
Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE (“Project” or “CIP 1127”), and can provide savings to taxpayers 
through contracting for shared services and by Covington providing services on behalf of Kent; 
and 

WHEREAS, Kent has three water transmission mains (“Kent’s Facilities”) that are located 
in SE 272nd St. and cross Jenkins Creek. These water mains will need to be relocated in order to 
construct the Jenkins Creek bridge; and 

WHEREAS, the engineering design scope of work is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and 
the cost estimate for the relocation of Kent’s Facilities within the Project is attached hereto as 
Exhibit “B,” both being incorporated herein by reference; and 

WHEREAS, actual construction costs will be determined as a result of approved contract 
bids and actual construction and construction administration costs approved by both Parties; and 

WHEREAS, each Party can realize certain economies from sharing resources and 
piggybacking onto contracts; and 

WHEREAS, Kent has agreed to follow Covington’s contracting procedures for bidding, 
contracting, and purchasing where required by this Agreement; and 

ATTACHMENT 1

52 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 2 of 13 

WHEREAS, Kent has agreed to compensate Covington for expenses incurred when 
utilizing the procedures offered under this Agreement; 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, it is 
agreed between the Parties as follows: 

1. Purpose. It is the purpose of this Agreement to utilize the provisions of state law to enable
the Parties to take advantage of economies of scale in sharing resources, by providing services to
Kent, by conducting joint operations and by utilizing cooperative purchasing, in relation to CIP
1127.

2. Definitions.
2.1. “Contracting Procedures” means the ordinances, resolutions, and administrative

orders adopted by a Party that specify the methods by which that Party purchases goods, 
equipment and services and the methods by which that Party obtains professional 
services, advertises for bids and awards contracts. 

2.2. “Lead Agency” is the Party designated as having administrative oversight of the 
services being provided to other Parties, including the responsibility for tracking 
expenses, providing invoices, and reconciling costs for services rendered. 

2.3. “Piggybacking” refers to the process by which a Party utilizes the contract that another 
Party has entered into with an outside vendor to make purchases or to receive services 
from that outside vendor. 

3. Offered Contracted Services.
Covington agrees to perform the following services for Kent pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement:

3.1. Design. Covington agrees to offer design services to relocate Kent’s Facilities by third-
party vendors contracting with Covington, to Kent for CIP 1127. 

3.2. Right-of-Way Services Covington agrees to offer right-of-way services by third- party 
vendors contracting with Covington, to Kent for CIP 1127. 

3.3. Construction Management. Covington agrees to offer construction management 
services, either by Covington staff or third-party vendors contracting with Covington, 
to Kent for CIP 1127. 

3.4. Project Management Services. Covington agrees to offer general project management 
services, either by Covington staff or third-party vendors contracting with Covington, 
to Kent for CIP 1127. 

4. Request for Services.

53 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 3 of 13 

The following process shall be followed by Kent when seeking to engage Covington for joint 
operations or contracted services under this Agreement (excluding cooperative purchasing,  which 
is addressed in Section 5, herein): 

4.1. Requests for Additional Services. In addition to the agreed-upon scope of work, as 
set forth in Exhibit “A,” Kent shall submit a written request for  any  additional service, 
not covered in Exhibit “A,” to Covington, setting forth the requested scope of work, 
requested duration or frequency of work, the location of the work, the  estimated cost 
of the work and budgeted amount for the work, any equipment and materials required, 
any additional specifications or standards that must be considered, and a date by which 
a response is requested. If Kent is limited in the amount  of money it can spend on the 
request due to a budget appropriation, Kent must specify that limitation in its request. 
For the purposes of this sub-section, the Parties agree  that a written request may be 
submitted by Kent to Covington via email. 

4.2. Acceptance of Request for Additional Services. Covington shall respond to the 
written request for additional services, made pursuant to Subsection 4.1, through a 
written acceptance or denial. Should Covington fail to respond to Kent by the date 
specified in the request, Kent’s request shall expire and be void. An acceptance shall 
include the agreed upon scope of work, the total estimated direct cost for the work,  the 
estimated indirect cost (all administrative charges and overhead), whether a deposit will 
be required and if so, for what purpose, and the duration and/or schedule for the work 
and any specifications or standards that will be applicable. The written acceptance shall 
require the signature of the appointed administrator of Covington,  the appointed 
administrator of Kent. 

4.3. Outside Vendor Contracts. If any of Covington’s services to be rendered, related to 
this Agreement, are services provided by a contract between Covington and an outside 
vendor, Covington’s contract with the vendor shall reference this Agreement, specify 
that the vendor agrees to provide services to a Party other than Covington,  and add 
Kent as an additional insured on the vendor’s required insurance policies. Covington 
shall provide a copy of its contract with the outside vendor to Kent with its written 
acceptance to Kent. 

4.4. Covington as Lead Agency. Covington shall have administrative oversight of the 
services requested, any advertisement for bids and award of contract, and the 
accounting for the services. Covington shall generally incur the cost of the service being 
performed for Kent and, in most circumstances, shall be responsible for invoicing Kent 
for services rendered. 

4.5. Services that Require Bidding and Contracting. A service that requires an 
advertisement for bids and an award of contract shall be specified by Covington in 
writing. Pursuant to Subsection 4.4, Covington, as Lead Agency, shall be solely 
responsible for conducting an advertisement for bids and awarding a contract. In 
advertising for bids and awarding a contract, Covington shall follow state law and 
Covington’s adopted local ordinances/rules. Covington may consult with Kent as to 

54 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 4 of 13 

the terms and provisions in a request for bids, but Kent shall have no role in awarding 
the contract. Covington assumes sole responsibility for compliance with state law and 
Covington’s adopted local ordinances and rules pertaining to the award of the contract, 
management of the contract, contract close-out, warranty, and required financial 
guarantees. Any claims by laborers/materialmen/mechanics/suppliers shall be handled 
by Covington. Resolution of any dispute under the contract awarded by Covington shall 
be the sole responsibility of Covington. The prosecution or defense  of any legal claim 
involving the contract awarded by Covington shall be the sole responsibility of 
Covington. Covington may request contribution or assistance from Kent in resolving 
any dispute or in prosecuting or defending any legal claim  involving the contract 
awarded by Covington, but any such contribution or assistance shall be at the sole 
discretion of Kent. 

4.5.1. Allocation of Costs for Shared Bid Items. 
To protect the Parties from a bidder shifting disproportionate costs of shared 
bid items onto either Party’s bid schedule, shared bid items such as, but not 
limited to, mobilization, clean-up, demobilization, temporary  erosion control, 
and various items related to traffic control shall all be contained within the 
primary Schedule of the Bid Documents. 

The cost of said shared bid items shall be proportioned between Covington 
and Kent based on either: (1) Identification of bid items subject to cost sharing 
and item by item proportional allocation of costs as agreed between the Parties 
prior to bid advertisement; or (2) Identification of bid items subject to cost 
sharing as agreed between the Parties prior to bid advertisement and 
proportional allocation of their costs based solely upon the costs of the 
Parties’ Bid Schedules relative to the sum of the two. 

The Parties shall agree to the method for cost sharing. The derived  allocation 
percentages shall be applied to the engineer's estimate to determine each 
Party's estimated dollar share prior to bids, to the contract  bid to estimate 
each Party's contract share, and then to the final contract cost for said items 
to determine each Party's final contract share. 

4.5.2. Bid Approval. Covington shall furnish Kent with an electronic summary of 
all received bids, bid items, bid prices, and the list of contractors and 
subcontractors to perform the requested work for Kent’s approval within three 
business days after the closing of the bidding period. Kent shall review the 
bid documents and notify Covington in writing, within 14 days of receipt of 
all responsive bid documents, whether Kent approves or rejects the bids for 
Kent’s requested work. Covington shall not proceed with Kent’s work if 
Covington received written notification from Kent that Kent found 
supportable grounds for rejecting the bids for Kent’s Facilities. A proposed 
bid may be rejected if among other things, any of the unit prices are 
excessively unbalanced, either above or below the amount of a reasonable bid, 
to the potential detriment of Kent.          Bid awards shall be made to the 

55 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 5 of 13 

lowest responsible bidder for the project, subject to applicable laws and 
regulations. 

4.5.3. Bid Rejection. In the event Kent rejects the lowest responsible bid and Kent’s 
Bid Schedule is additive or deductive, Kent may elect to have its  own 
contractor perform Kent’s work. Timing of work issues shall be determined 
in a specific addendum to this Agreement. Kent shall complete its work prior 
to the scheduled beginning of Covington work, provided that Covington may, 
in its sole discretion, allow Kent’s contractor to perform work concurrently 
with Covington’s contractor. In such event, Kent shall require its contractor 
to coordinate all Kent work located at the project site with the Covington 
contractor and with any contractors or work crews from other utilities and to 
not unreasonably interfere with or delay Covington’s contractor or the work 
by other utilities. Kent shall notify its contractor of such requirement and shall 
provide written notice to Covington and Covington’s contractor a minimum 
of 10 calendar days prior to beginning Kent work on the Project site. 

4.6. Right of Entry. The Parties to this Agreement hereby grant and convey to each other 
the right to enter upon all land in which the Parties have an interest, within or 
immediately adjacent to the right-of-way of a highway, road, or street for the purpose 
of accomplishing all work or services requested as part of this Agreement; provided, 
however that any request by Covington to enter upon Kent’s property immediately to 
the South of the Project site must require advance written approval from Kent, which 
may be withheld at Kent’s sole and absolute discretion, due to the ecologically sensitive 
nature of this property. 

4.7. Kent Inspector. Kent may furnish and Covington shall allow an inspector to be on a 
project site to verify proper compliance with the requirements set forth in the contract 
documents while the contractor is doing Kent work. Kent’s inspector shall advise 
Covington of any deficiencies noted in Kent work. Covington may designate Kent’s 
inspector as Covington’s agent to communicate directly with the contractor's field 
personnel regarding compliance with the contract specifications for Kent work. Kent’s 
inspector shall maintain a daily record pertaining to the project and shall assist 
Covington’s contract management personnel in preparing reports of daily quantities  of 
Kent work. 

4.8. Change Orders. During construction, Kent shall notify Covington in writing as soon 
as practicable of any changes it wishes to make in the plans and specifications that 
affect Kent’s work. Such changes shall be made, if feasible. Covington shall notify 
Kent in writing as soon as practicable of any changes required by Covington in the 
scope of the project or of any changes that substantially change the nature of Kent’s 
work and shall obtain Kent’s approval of such changes to Kent’s work. Notification by 
a Party shall be given prior to commencement of the changes. The cost of the change 
shall be borne by the Party initiating the changes and any cost savings shall benefit the 
Party initiating the changes provided that those cost savings are applicable 

56 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 6 of 13 

to expenses that Party would otherwise have been subject to pay. When calculating the 
cost of changes, such calculation shall include costs to other items of work impacted 
by the change and/or claims arising from the change. Covington shall act as Kent’s 
agent in negotiating change orders and/or force account work with the contractor, 
provided that Kent shall be given notice and an opportunity to have input and the right 
to reject any change order relating solely to Kent’s work. 

4.9 Uninterrupted Operation of Kent’s Facilities. Because Kent’s Facilities are a primary source 
of Kent’s water supply, Covington acknowledges and agrees that it will not cause, nor permit to 
be caused, any unnecessary interruption of flows through Kent’s Facilities during Project 
construction. Project construction shall be sequenced to the maximum extent practicable, to ensure 
that the water mains remain fully-functional at all times during construction of the Project. Should 
flow interruptions be necessary during construction, they shall be sequenced so  as to only interrupt 
flows in one water main at a time. When flows are interrupted, Covington shall direct its contractor 
to work continuously to re-establish the flows in the water main, unless otherwise approved by 
Kent. Covington shall provide Kent 14 days advance notice for flow interruptions. 

5. Project Completion; Acceptance.

5.1. Substantial Completion. Covington shall provide Kent with written notice of
substantial completion of the project work. Upon notification of substantial completion, 
Kent shall promptly perform a final inspection of Kent work. Within 30 calendar days 
of its final inspection, Kent shall provide to Covington acceptance of Kent’s work, or 
alternatively, provide an itemized and detailed response as to why final acceptance of 
Kent’s work cannot be given. If Kent fails to respond to  Covington within said 30 
calendar days of Kent’s receipt of the notice of completion from Covington, Kent will 
be deemed to have given final acceptance of Kent’s work. 

5.2. Final Acceptance. Upon final acceptance of Kent work, Covington shall be relieved 
of any and all responsibility and/or liability for Kent work and the condition of Kent 
Facilities, provided that Covington shall assign its rights under the project contract 
relating to Kent work to Kent, including warranty and maintenance obligations by the 
contractor relating to Kent work. 

5.3. Record Drawings. Covington shall provide Kent with record drawings of Kent Work 
(as builts) in a mutually acceptable digital format within 10 days of the notice to Kent 
of project completion. Any revisions to the project plans shall be incorporated on to the 
record drawings digitally. The record drawings for water facilities and roadway/storm 
water facilities shall conform to Kent and City standard details for record drawings. 
The work described in this sub-section shall be included in any third-party consultant 
construction management services contract/s described in Subsection 4.3 above. 

6. Joint and Cooperative Purchasing.

57 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 7 of 13 

6.1. Contract Piggybacking. Kent bears the sole responsibility for conducting its own due 
diligence to determine whether Covington has lawfully entered into a contract for 
purchasing and/or services according to Covington’s adopted Contracting Procedures 
prior to placing any orders, or engaging services from a provider under Covington’s 
contract. Due diligence includes ascertaining whether Kent’s contract with an outside 
vendor allows Kent to piggyback. 

6.2. Contracting Procedures. Covington’s Purchasing Policies and Procedures are those 
as adopted by City of Covington Resolution No. 10-14, effective June 8, 2010. 

6.3. Piggybacking Party’s Responsibilities. If Kent, as a piggybacking Party, decides to 
utilize Covington’s contract to purchase supplies, equipment, or services, Kent bears 
the sole responsibility for observing the terms of Covington’s contract and assumes any 
liability under the terms of the contract between Covington and the vendor/service 
provider pertaining to the supplies, equipment, or services it obtains under that contract, 
thereby stepping into the shoes of Covington for all purposes for which Kent is utilizing 
Covington’s contract. 

6.4. Piggybacking Not Authorized. This Agreement does not authorize any Party to 
piggyback onto any Party’s Intergovernmental Agreement for State Purchasing 
Cooperative with the State of Washington, Department of General Administration. 

7. Administration.

7.1. No Separate Entity. The Parties agree that no separate or independent legal entity is
created by this Agreement. 

7.2. Joint Administration. The Parties shall each appoint a representative to administer the 
terms of this Agreement, and the appointed administrators shall comprise the Joint 
Administrative Board. The appointed administrators, which may be amended from time 
to time with notice to the other Parties are: 

For Covington: 
Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100 
Covington, WA 98042 
(253) 638-1110

With a copy to: 
Regan Bolli, City Manager 

For Kent: 
Tim LaPorte, Public Works Director 
400 W. Gowe Street 
Kent, WA 98032 

58 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 8 of 13 

253-856-5500

With a copy to: 
Suzette Cooke, Mayor 
220 Fourth Avenue South 
Kent, WA 98032 
253-856-5700

7.3 Notices. Unless otherwise provided for, notices to be provided pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be provided in writing to the persons indicated herein, at the addresses 
indicated herein. Notices shall be deemed delivered three days after placement of the 
notice in the U.S. Mail, first class postage pre-paid. Courtesy copies of notices may be 
provided via email transmission but shall not constitute delivery of written notice as set 
forth herein. 

7.4 Coordination. The Parties may schedule meetings to discuss the services being 
provided under this Agreement and any issues that arise. Meeting attendees shall 
include each Party’s appointed administrator or his/her designee(s), as well as any staff 
who administer service requests pursuant to this Agreement. Summaries of these 
meetings shall be provided to the administrator for each Party. 

7.5 Legislative Updates. Each Party shall have discretion as to the frequency of 
communications with its City Council regarding services performed under this 
Agreement. 

7.6 Audit of Lead Agency. Covington shall be subject to audit by Kent upon five days 
advance notice. Covington shall make its records available to Kent for any service, 
project, cooperative purchase, or joint undertaking for which it provided services as 
Lead Agency. Covington shall retain all records pertaining to any service, project, 
cooperative purchase, or joint undertaking for a minimum period of six years. Such 
records shall include, but are not limited to: bid documents, contracts, change orders, 
work orders, contract close out records, labor timekeeping records, and financial 
records. 

8. Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective as of the date this Agreement  is
approved by both legislative bodies of the Parties and subsequently executed by those Parties
according to each of those Parties’ adopted policies and procedures. Unless terminated by all
Parties pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect
until December 31, 2018, or final acceptance and exchange of record drawings, whichever comes
first. This Agreement may be extended by written agreement of the Parties subject to the approval
of such extension by each Party’s legislative body.

9. Payment.  Kent shall pay for services provided pursuant to the following provisions:

9.1. Payments for Services. Kent shall pay for actual direct and related indirect costs,
including any overhead and administrative charges, for products/materials/equipment 
and  services  purchased  or  provided  by Covington.   All  costs  shall  be part  of the 

59 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 9 of 13 

written acceptance pursuant to Section 4 herein. Any indirect costs may be waived by 
Covington at its discretion. 

9.2. Billing Statement. Covington shall submit a monthly invoice to Kent on a form agreed 
upon by the appointed administrators and shall contain the amount of 
products/materials/equipment and/or services purchased during the preceding month, 
along with such supporting documentation as shall be reasonably necessary to verify 
all amounts so invoiced. Payment shall be made by Kent each month within 30 days of 
receipt of the invoice. 

9.3. Billing Disputes. In the event there is a dispute regarding the amount of money owed 
among the Parties, the appointed administrators of the Parties shall make every effort 
to resolve such dispute by mutual agreement. No dispute shall be resolved  by majority 
vote. In the event there is no mutually agreed resolution to the dispute, the appointed 
administrators shall forward the dispute to each Party’s City Manager/City 
Administrator/Mayor for resolution.  In the event there is no resolution after review  by 
the Parties’ City Managers/City Administrator/Mayor, the Parties shall seek mediation 
through a mutually agreed mediation service, and each Party shall bear its own costs 
for mediation. If mediation is unsuccessful, any Party may pursue any legal remedy 
available from a court of competent jurisdiction. Any dispute that has gone to mediation 
and mediation was unsuccessful in resolving the dispute shall be grounds for any Party 
to terminate this Agreement for material breach. 

10. Ownership of Property. Any property owned by a given Party at the time of execution of this
Agreement shall remain the property of that Party. Any property jointly acquired by Parties
under this Agreement shall require a separate, written agreement to specify the terms, under
which said property will be acquired, the Party responsible for storage, maintenance, and
insurance of said property, and all other necessary terms including disposition of said property.

11. Termination.

11.1. Termination by Notice. Any Party may terminate its participation in this Agreement
by providing the other Party with 60 days advance written notice of the effective date 
of such termination. The Party providing such notice shall remain responsible for any 
costs incurred under this Agreement, including any costs to which the Party is 
contractually obligated under any joint undertaking that extends beyond the 60 day 
termination date provided in the notice of termination. 

11.2. Termination by Mutual Written Agreement.  This Agreement may be terminated  in 
its entirety at any time by written agreement that is executed by both of the Parties. 

11.3. Termination for Breach. Any Party may terminate its participation in this Agreement 
with 14 days advance written notice to the other Party for any material breach  of  the 
terms  of  this  Agreement,  provided  that  disputes  regarding  billing 

60 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 10 of 13 

statements shall be handled pursuant to Subsection 9.3 and shall not be deemed a 
breach of this Agreement except as set forth in Subsection 9.3. 

12. Indemnification and Hold Harmless. Each Party hereto (the “Indemnifying Party”) shall hold
harmless and indemnify the other Party hereto, its elected officials, officers, employees, and
agents (collectively the “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all suits, actions, claims,
liability, damages, judgments, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) that
result from or arise out of the acts or omissions of the indemnifying party, its elected officials,
officers, employees, and agents in connection with or incidental to the performance or non-
performance of services, duties, and obligations under this Agreement.

In the event the acts or omissions of the officials, officers, agents, and/or employees of a Party in 
connection with or incidental to the performance or non-performance of services, duties, or 
obligations under this Agreement are the subject of any liability claims by a third party, each Party 
shall each be liable for its proportionate concurrent negligence in any resulting suits, actions, 
claims, liability, damages, judgments, costs, and expenses and for their own attorney’s fees. 

Nothing contained in this section or this Agreement shall be construed to create a right in any third 
party to indemnification. 

The provisions of this section shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement. 

Waiver of Workers Compensation Immunity. It is further specifically and expressly understood 
and agreed that the indemnification provided herein constitutes each Party’s waiver  of immunity 
under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely to carry out the purposes of this indemnification 
clause. The Parties further acknowledge that they have mutually negotiated this waiver. 

13. Insurance. Covington is a member of an insurance risk pool, and, consistent with the  policies
established therein, Covington is insured and agrees to maintain for the duration of the Agreement
insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in
connection with the performance of the services hereunder by Covington, its agents,
representatives, or employees. Should Kent require specific insurance coverage for a specific
service request, Kent shall indicate any additional insurance specifications or standards in their
written request for services pursuant to Section 4.1 herein.

14. Independent Service Provider.

14.1. Notwithstanding Subsection 4.6 herein, the Parties intend that an independent
contractor relationship is created by this Agreement. In providing services under this 
Agreement, Covington is an independent contractor and neither it nor its officers, nor 
its agents nor its employees or vendors, are employees of Kent for any purpose, 
including responsibility for any federal or state tax, industrial insurance, or Social 
Security liability. Neither shall the provision of services under this Agreement give rise 
to any claim of career service or civil service rights, which may accrue to an employee 
of Covington under any applicable law, rule, or regulation.  Nothing in  this 

61 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 11 of 13 

Agreement is intended to create an interest in or give a benefit to third persons not 
signing as a party to this Agreement. As an independent contractor, Covington shall be 
responsible for the reporting and payment of all applicable local, state, and federal 
employment taxes. 

14.2. To the extent that Kent exercises control and direction over the work of Covington, 
such control and directions will be for purposes of achieving the results specified in the 
Acceptance of Services letter according to Section 4.2 herein. No agent, employee, 
servant, or representative of Covington shall be deemed to be an  employee, agent, 
servant or representative of Kent for any purpose, and the  employees of Covington are 
not entitled to any of the benefits that Kent provides for its employees. Covington shall 
be solely and entirely responsible for its acts and for the acts of its agents, employees, 
servants, subcontractors or representatives, performed within the authorized scope of 
its agents, employees, servants, subcontractors or representatives’ duties during the 
performance of this Agreement. 

14.3. In the performance of the services herein contemplated Covington is an independent 
contractor with the authority to control and direct the performance of the details of the 
work; however, the results of the work contemplated herein must meet the approval  of 
Kent and shall be subject to Kent’s general rights of inspection and review to  secure 
the satisfactory completion thereof. 

15. Miscellaneous.

15.1. Non-Waiver of Breach. The failure of any Party to insist upon strict performance of
any of the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, or to exercise any 
option conferred by this Agreement in one or more instances, shall not be construed  to 
be a waiver or relinquishment of those covenants, agreements or options, and the same 
shall be and remain in full force and effect. 

15.2. Resolution of Disputes and Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by 
and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. Subject to 
Subsection 9.3, if the Parties are unable to settle any dispute, difference or claim arising 
from the Parties’ performance of this Agreement, the exclusive means of resolving that 
dispute, difference or claim, shall only be by filing suit exclusively under the venue, 
rules, and jurisdiction of the King County Superior Court, King County, Washington, 
unless the Parties agree in writing to an alternative dispute resolution process. 

15.3. Assignment.  This Agreement is not assignable by any Party, in whole or in part. 

15.4. Modification. No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be binding unless made in writing and approved by the legislative 
body of each city. 

62 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 12 of 13 

15.5. Compliance with Laws. Each Party agrees to comply with all local, federal, and  state 
laws, rules, and regulations that are now effective or in the future become applicable to 
this Agreement. 

15.5.1. Nondiscrimination in Employment. In the performance of this 
Agreement, no Party will discriminate against any employee or applicant 
for employment on the grounds of race, religion, creed, color, national 
origin, sex, marital status, disability, sexual orientation, age or other basis 
prohibited by state or federal law; unless based upon a bona fide 
occupational qualification. Each Party shall take such action with respect to 
this Agreement as may be required to ensure full compliance with local, 
state and federal laws prohibiting discrimination in employment. 

15.5.2. Nondiscrimination in Services. No Party will discriminate against any 
recipient of any services or benefits provided for in this Agreement on the 
grounds of race, religion, creed, color, national origin, sex, marital status, 
disability, sexual orientation, age, or other basis prohibited by state or 
federal law. 

15.6. Entire Agreement. The written terms and provisions of this Agreement, together with 
any exhibits attached hereto, shall supersede all prior communications, negotiations, 
representations, or agreements, either verbal or written of any officer or other 
representative of each party, and such statements shall not be effective or be construed 
as entering into or forming a part of or altering in any manner this Agreement. Any 
exhibits are hereby made part of this Agreement. Should any of the language of any 
exhibits to this Agreement conflict with any language contained in this Agreement, the 
language of this document shall prevail. 

15.7. Severability. If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Agreement 
is adjudicated to be invalid, such action shall not affect the validity of all other sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses, or phrases not so adjudicated. 

15.8. Interpretation. The legal presumption that an ambiguous term of this Agreement 
should be interpreted against the Party who prepared the Agreement shall not apply. 

15.9. No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is between the Parties and is not meant 
to benefit any third party. 

15.10. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, any of 
which shall constitute an agreement by and among the Parties who have executed this 
Agreement, provided that Kent shall transmit to the attention of the Covington City 
Clerk an original, executed signature page of this Agreement. The Covington City 
Clerk shall cause a copy of this Agreement and a copy of each executed signature page 
of each party to be posted on the Covington City website pursuant to RCW 39.34.040. 

63 of 122



Interlocal Agreement 
Page 13 of 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties below execute this Agreement, herein. 

COVINGTON: 

CITY OF COVINGTON: 

By: 
(signature) 

Print Name:  Regan Bolli 
Its:  City Manager 

(Title) 
DATE: 

KENT: 

CITY OF KENT: 

By: 
(signature) 

Print Name: Suzette Cooke 
Its:  Mayor 

DATE: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Sara Springer, City Attorney 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Tom Brubaker, City Attorney 

P:\Civil\Files\Open Files\2106-Kent-Covington S. 516-Waterline Replacement ILA\DRAFT_ILA_COV_KENT_CIP1127_08DEC2015_DV_KL.doc 

64 of 122



SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 
Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 

Scope of Work - Supplement #2 Page 1 

EXHIBIT A 

WORK ELEMENT 19.  CITY OF KENT WATER SYSTEM DESIGN 

The City of Kent is relocating/replacing new water mains (3) and crossings (3) of Jenkins Creek 
as part of the SE 272nd Street (SR 516) project. The CONSULTANT shall coordinate with the 
City of Kent to determine the extent of the water main improvements, construction sequence and 
operational limitations during construction. The CONSULTANT shall then design the water main 
and associated appurtenances in conformance with the City of Kent’s design standards. Specific 
activities will include: 

Assumptions: 

• Project will include federal funding and applicable funding conditions will apply

• City of Kent standards and specifications will be used where applicable

• An inter-local agreement will be executed between the City of Kent and the City of
Covington

• A bid schedule will be established to capture City of Kent costs related to design and
construction

• The District’s improvements will lie within the impact limits established in the permitting
documents for the project

• Assumes one crossing of Jenkins creek and two mains on each side of the crossing

Specific activities will include: 

Work Element 19.1 Coordination 
The CONSULTANT shall coordinate with City of Kent on the design of new water mains to be 
constructed as well as existing mains and related water facilities to be abandoned or replaced 
during construction. Two (2) meetings with City of Kent at three (3) hours per meeting are assumed 
as well as coordination via telephone, email and letter for this effort. 

Deliverable(s): 

• Attend Meetings
• Prepare Meeting Minutes
• Telephone Logs and Notes

65 of 122



SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 
Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 

Scope of Work Supplement #3 Page 2 

Work Element 19.2 Project QA/QC 
The CONSULTANT shall provide QA/QC activities, reviews and documentation. These activities 
will include senior engineer reviews, documentation and internal audits of project required 
procedures. 

Deliverable(s): 

• Senior Reviews and Documentation
• Submittal Reviews and Documentation
• QA/QC File Documentation and Checklists

Work Element 19.3 Concept Design & Construction Sequence 
The CONSULTANT shall develop and submit concept plans level showing the conceptual 
horizontal and vertical layout of the proposed water main improvements in order to identify  space 
requirements within the right-of-way. The technical memo will identify the construction sequence 
needed to accommodate the construction of the crossing and for water mains, including outages. 
The concept will be laid out on base drawings provided by the CONSULTANT. 

Deliverable(s) 

• Construction Sequence memo and operational limitations during construction
• Five (5) concept plan and profile view sheets

Work Element 19.4 Utility Coordination Associated with Water Main Design 
The CONSULTANT will identify and document possible utility conflicts associated with water 
main design. After the conceptual design is completed potential utility conflicts will  be  identified 
and documented in matrix from.  This matrix will be used to track the actions needed  to address 
the conflicts, including potholing. 

Deliverable(s) 

• Utility Conflict Matrix
• Utility Pothole Plan
• Utility Pothole Data Table

Work Element 19.5 30% Design PS&E 
Develop and submit construction plans to a 30% design level showing the conceptual horizontal 
and vertical layout of the proposed water main improvements in order to identify space 
requirements within the right-of-way. The CONSULTANT shall prepare a 30% engineer’s 
estimate using City of Covington standard bid items to reflect the expected construction cost for 
the project. Specifications will not be provided for this submittal. The design will be laid out on 
base drawings provided by The CONSULTANT.   The CONSULTANT’s project manager   will 

66 of 122



SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 
Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 

Scope of Work Supplement #3 Page 3 

perform the QA/QC review on the 30% submittal documents. The 30% construction plans shall 
include the following: 

Deliverable(s): 

• Five (5) plan and profile view sheets
• 30% water main estimate

Work Element 19.6 60% Design PS&E 
Develop and submit 60% design PS&E. The 60% design PS&E will include detailed plan and 
profile views of the water main improvements so that any conflicts with other utilities or design 
elements can be determined and resolved. Connection details, as well as other construction details 
will be developed sufficiently to understand the construction requirements of the project. The 60% 
Construction Specifications will be based on the CITY’s boilerplate special provisions and Kent’s 
standard specifications. The 60% engineer’s estimate will use the City of  Covington’s standard 
bid items to reflect the expected construction cost for the project. The CONSULTANT shall 
address all 30% review comments on the proposed water main improvements. and perform QA/QC 
reviews by its project manager and construction observer on the 60% submittal document. The 
construction observer’s review will focus on constructability issues.  The 60% construction plans 
shall include the following: 

Deliverable(s): 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements
• Two (2) detail sheets
• 60% water main specifications
• 60% water main estimate
• 30% comment matrix

Work Element 19.7 90% Design PS&E 
Develop and submit 90% design PS&E. The 90% design PS&E will include detailed plan and 
profile views of the water main improvements. The design elements will be cross-checked with 
the other street and utility improvements to eliminate the major conflicts. Minor conflicts will be 
addressed during the 90% quality management review. The connection details and other 
construction details will be sufficiently designed that potential bidders could conceivably construct 
the project. All references and callouts will be checked to assure continuity within the design. 
Comprehensive specifications will be developed that describe the elements included in each bid 
item, how each bid item will be measured and paid, and the material and construction requirements. 
The 60% construction cost projections will be refined to provide an updated projection of probable 
construction cost. The CONSULTANT shall address all 60% review comments on the proposed 
water main improvements and perform QA/QC reviews by its project manager, quality control 
manager, construction observer, and principal in charge on the 90% submittal document.  The 90% 
construction plans shall include the following: 

Deliverable(s): 

67 of 122



SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between 
Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 

Scope of Work Supplement #3 Page 4 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements
• Two (2) detail sheets
• 90% water main specifications
• 90% water main estimate
• 60% comment matrix

Work Element 19.8 100% Design PS&E 
The CONSULTANT shall develop and submit the 100% design PS&E addressing all comments 
from the 90% review and should represent documents nearly ready to advertise for bids. This effort 
is assumed to be minor and that no design changes will have occurred after the 90% design has 
been completed. The CONSULTANT shall perform a final QA/QC review to ensure that all design 
elements have been addressed and the documents are ready to be advertised for bids by the CITY. 
The 100% level cost estimate for the project will be sufficiently detailed to determine a fair price 
for the work to be performed, and to provide a basis for evaluating contractor bids. The 100% 
construction plans shall include the following: 

Deliverable(s): 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements
• Two (2) detail sheets

• 100% water main specifications
• 100% water main estimate
• 90% comment matrix

Work Element 19.9 Final Design PS&E 
The CONSULTANT shall make minor revisions, as necessary, to the PS&E to incorporate the 
100% review comments. The final contract plans will include all complete stamped drawings with 
date and signature. The contract provisions document will be complete and be ready to use during 
bid advertisement. The CONSULTANT shall also prepare a final engineer’s estimate of probable 
construction costs. This effort is assumed as a minor effort to address minor plan and specification 
issues. Design changes are not provided for this submittal. The CITY can use this submittal to 
advertise for bids from contractors. The 100% construction plans shall include the following 
sheets: 

Deliverable(s): 

• Five (5) detailed plan and profile sheets of the water main improvements
• Two (2) detail sheets
• Final water main specifications
• Final water main estimate
• 100% comment matrix

68 of 122



EXHIBIT B 
CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY 

Project: City of Covington 
SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 
Tetra Tech 
Fee Estimate 

Tetra Tech 

DIRECT SALARY COST (DSC): 

Classification Hours X Rate Cost 

1. Project QA/QC Manager 10 62.00 $620.00 
2. Project Manager/Sr. Supervising Engineer 90 69.39 $6,245.10 
3. Project Engineer/Senior Engineer 64 53.50 $3,424.00 
4. Staff Engineer 26 45.00 $1,170.00 
5. CADD / Technical Support 8 35.00 $280.00 
6. Project Administrator 28 32.81 $918.68 
7. Struct Project Manager 8 71.74 $573.92 
8. Senior Structural Engineer 0 65.00 $0.00 
9. Junior Structural Engineer 0 35.00 $0.00 
10. Structural CAD 0 35.00 $0.00 
11. Structural Administration 0 28.00 $0.00 
12. Survey Manager 0 53.00 $0.00 
13. Computations Technician 0 42.00 $0.00 
14. Survey CADD 0 30.00 $0.00 
15. Field Tech 3 0 30.00 $0.00 
16. Field Tech 2 0 25.00 $0.00 
17. Survey Admin 0 24.00 $0.00 

SUBTOTAL - DSC 234 $13,231.70 

OVERHEAD (OH) COST (Including Salary Additives) 

OH Rate  X  DSC   or  151.00%  X  $13,231.70 $19,979.87 

FIXED FEE (FF): 

FF Rate =  30%  X  ( $13,231.70 ) $3,969.51 

REIMBURSABLES: 

Mileage   ( 190 Miles X  0.555/mile ) $105.45 
Survey Mileage   ( 0 Miles    X  0.555/mile ) $0.00 
Reprographics $100.00 
APS (Potholing) $3,500.00 
Courier $200.00 

$3,905.45 

SUBTOTAL $41,086.53 

SUBCONSULTANTS 

Stantec $96,672.93 

GRAND TOTAL - ESTIMATED FEE $137,759.46 

Prepared By: CJP Date: 2/1/2016 

Checked By:  CJP Date: 2/1/2016 

TT FEE 

69 of 122



EXHIBIT B 
CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY 

City of Covington 
SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE Tetra Tech 

Fee Estimate 

MAJOR TASK DESCRIPTION 
Project 
QA/QC 

Project 
Manager 

Project 
Engineer 

Staff 
Engineer 

Tech. 
Support 

Project 
Admin 

HOURS 
TOTAL 

19.0  City of Kent Water System Design 
19.1 Covington Water District Coordination 16 16 4 36 
19.2 Project QA/QC 10 10 4 4 28 
19.3 Concept Design and Construction Sequence 4 8 8 4 4 28 
19.4 Utility Coordination Associated with Water Main Design 8 24 8 4 4 48 
19.5 30% Design PS&E 10 2 2 2 16 
19.6 60% Design PS&E 10 2 2 2 16 
19.7 90% Design PS&E 10 2 2 2 16 
19.8 100% Design PS&E 10 2 2 2 16 
19.9 Final Design PS&E 8 2 2 2 14 
19.10 Bidding Assistance 4 2 2 16 

TOTAL 10 90 64 26 8 28 234 

TASK 

70 of 122



EXHIBIT B 
CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY 

Project: City of Covington 
SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 
Stantech 
Fee Estimate 

Stantec 

DIRECT SALARY COST (DSC): 

Classification Hours X Rate Cost 

1. Principal/Project Manager (CPS/EJW)
2. Senior Project Engineer QA/QC (SKS)
3. EIT Designer (SMA)
4. Sr. Eng. Technician (JEG)
5. CADD Technician (BLG)
6. Project Administrator (RCS)

66 
137 
174 
162 
46 
22 

65.13 
54.49 
32.29 
46.69 
32.11 
40.87 

$4,298.58 
$7,465.13 
$5,618.46 
$7,563.78 
$1,477.06 

$899.14 

SUBTOTAL - DSC 607 $27,322.15 

OVERHEAD (OH) COST (Including Salary Additives) 

OH Rate  X  DSC   or  186.04%  X  $27,322.15 $50,830.13 

FIXED FEE (FF): 

FF Rate =  30%  X  ( $27,322.15 ) $8,196.65 

REIMBURSABLES: 

Mileage   ( 600 Miles   X  0.54/mile ) $324.00 
Computer time $9,000.00 
Reprographics $1,000.00 
Courier $0.00 

$10,324.00 

SUBTOTAL $96,672.93 

SUBCONSULTANTS 

GRAND TOTAL - ESTIMATED FEE $96,672.93 

Prepared By:  Chris Schmidt - Stantec Date: 2/1/2016 

Checked By:  Chris Schmidt - Stantec Date: 2/1/2016 

Stantech FEE 

71 of 122



EXHIBIT B 
CONSULTANT FEE SUMMARY 

City of Covington 
SE 272nd Street (SR 516) between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE 

Stantech 
Fee Estimate 

MAJOR TASK DESCRIPTION 
PIC/PM 

CPS/EJW 
PE 

SKS 
EIT 

SMA 
Sr. Tech. 

JEG 
CAD 
BLG 

Admin. 
RCS 

HOURS 
TOTAL 

TOTAL 

19.0  City of Kent Water System Design $ - 
19.1 City Coordination 6 8 10 6 30 $ 4,518.55 
19.2 Project QA/QC 16 14 4 4 38 $ 6,702.77 
19.3 City Concept design & Construction Sequence 4 14 12 14 2 46 $ 6,783.04 
19.4 Utility Coordination Associated with Water Main Design 8 12 16 24 60 $ 8,887.43 
19.5 30% Design PS&E 4 16 34 34 20 2 110 $ 14,353.34 
19.6 60% Design PS&E 6 27 34 28 10 4 109 $ 15,017.49 
19.7 90% Design PS&E 6 21 28 20 10 4 89 $ 12,191.46 
19.8 100% Design PS&E 6 15 18 20 6 4 69 $ 9,731.79 
19.9 Final Design PS&E 6 8 16 10 4 44 $ 6,237.75 
19.10 Bidding Assistance 4 2 2 2 2 12 $ 1,925.32 

TOTAL 66 137 174 162 46 22 607 $ 86,348.94 

TASK 72 of 122



Agenda Item 1  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2016  
 
SUBJECT:  RECEIVE TESTIMONY FROM THE PUBLIC AND CONSIDER AN 

ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A NEW TITLE 19 CMC—IMPACT FEES, 
INCLUDING THE ADDITION OF AN IMPACT FEE DEFERRAL PROGRAM, 
AND CONSIDER AN AMENDMENT TO THE CITY’S FEE RESOLUTION TO 
INCLUDE THE COLLECTION OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE FEE FOR THE 
SAME 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Director of Community Development 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 
1. Blue Sheet for July 26, 2016, agenda item on impact fee deferral program  
2. Proposed Ordinance establishing a new Title 19 CMC—Impact Fees  
3. Proposed Resolution establishing an administrative fee for Impact Fee Deferral Program 

 
PREPARED BY:  Salina Lyons, Principal Planner 
 Kelly Thompson, Senior Permit Center Coordinator 

 
EXPLANATION: 
 
A. Impact Fee Deferral Program 
At the July 26, 2016, regular council meeting, community development staff provided the 
council an overview of the new impact fee deferral program that the city is required by state law 
to adopt by September 1, 2016 (ESB 5923). (Attachment 1) In brief, the new state law requires 
the city to adopt an impact fee deferral system for the collection of impact fees for new single-
family (detached and attached) residential construction. At the same regular council meeting, the 
council directed staff to draft the impact fee deferral ordinance to allow impact fee payment 
deferrals until the time of final inspection/issuance of the certificate of occupancy and to cap the 
amount of impact fee payment deferrals to the state minimum of twenty (20) annual deferrals per 
applicant.  
 
B. New Title 19—Impact Fees 
Also as previously presented by city staff, as part of the process of drafting new code provisions 
for the above required impact fee deferral program, city staff took the opportunity to reorganize 
all existing impact fee code provisions into a new Title 19—Impact Fees. (Currently, 
transportation impact fees are included in chapter 12.105 CMC and school impact fees are 
included in chapter 18.120 CMC.)  
 
The attached proposed ordinance (Attachment 2), creates the new Title 19—Impact Fees. As 
noted, Title 19 represents a restructuring and reorganization of the city’s existing impact fee 
provisions, and includes the following code changes and updates (generally): 
 

73 of 122



• New impact fee deferral program. 
 

• Caps waivers of impact fees for low-income housing to eighty percent (80%) of the 
impact fees assessed for that project.  

o State statutes allow for up to an 80% waiver of impact fees for low-income 
housing developments without requiring the waived impact fees to be matched by 
the city from funds other than the impact fee funds. Any waiver amount above 
80% would require the city to pay the additional amount waived above 80%.  

 
• Clarifies that impact fees are assessed for a change of use if that change of use impacts 

public facilities. 
 

• Inclusion of additional building permit types as exceptions to the collection of impact 
fees (i.e. building permits that do not affect or have an impact on public facilities, such as 
fences, decks, etc.). 
 

• Numerous housekeeping edits to update the existing code language for clarity and 
accuracy. 

 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Recommend amendments to the proposed ordinance.  
2. Return the issue to city staff for further study and analysis. 

 
State law requires the city to adopt an impact fee deferral program by September 1, 2016. As the 
second council meeting in August is cancelled, council must, at a minimum, take action on 
adopting the impact fee deferral program. As noted, the council may alter the select policy 
decisions local governments may exercise regarding the new impact fee deferral program (i.e. 
the timing of collection of payment and the number of allowed deferrals per applicant per year); 
however, state law closely prescribes the remaining impact fee code provisions. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
The implementation of the impact fee deferral program will cause a delay in the city’s collection 
of transportation and school impact fees. Accordingly, staff anticipates a corresponding delay in 
the availability of those same funds for application towards the city’s capital facilities projects.   
 
The city may collect reasonable administrative fees to cover the costs of implementing the 
impact fee deferral program.  Staff is proposing that the council adopt a non-refundable 
administrative fee of $143 for each Impact Fee Deferral Request. ($143 is the current billable 
rate for 1 hour of community development staff time.) Staff will include this new administrative 
fee into the next fee resolution update, and it will be subject to future increases as set forth by the 
council.  The applicant will responsible for all recording costs associated with the liens and the 
release of lien forms required by the impact fee deferral program.   
 

74 of 122



The deferral of impact fees does not preclude the developer from paying administrative fees for 
the collection and processing of payment of impact fees, generally, as currently set forth in the 
fee resolution.  The current administrative fee is $70 per impact fee assessed.   
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    X     Ordinance       Resolution    X  Motion         Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to pass an Ordinance, in substantial form as presented, to repeal 
Chapter 12.110 CMC and Chapter 18.120 CMC and replace with a new Title 
19 CMC—Impact Fees, which includes adoption of a new impact fee deferral 
program as required pursuant to ESB 5923.  
 
 
Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to adopt an amendment to Resolution No. 15-12, in substantial form 
as that presented, to include a non-refundable administrative fee of $143.00 
to be collected for each Impact Fee Deferral Request. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager; Community Development Director, Finance Director; City 
Attorney. 

75 of 122



Agenda Item 4 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date: July 26, 2016 

SUBJECT:  DISCUSS IMPACT FEE DEFERRAL PROGRAM FOR THE DEFERRAL OF 
PAYMENT FOR TRANSPORTATION AND SCHOOL IMPACT FEES FOR 
SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED AND ATTACHED RESIDENTIAL 
CONSTRUCTION PURSUANT TO ENGROSSED SENATE BILL (ESB) 5923. 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Director of Community Development 

ATTACHMENT(S): 
None.  

PREPARED BY:  Salina Lyons, Principal Planner 
Kelly Thompson, Senior Permit Center Coordinator 

EXPLANATION: 

A. What is the Impact Fee Deferral Program?

In 2015 the state legislature passed, and the governor signed into law, ESB 5923. ESB 5923 
requires counties, cities, and towns to adopt an impact fee deferral system for the collection of 
impact fees for new single-family detached and attached residential construction. The deadline to 
implement a single-family impact fee deferral program is September 1, 2016. 

Under the new law, counties, cities, and towns must adopt a deferral system for the collection of 
impact fees that, upon developer request, delays payment until the time of either: 

1. Final inspection;
2. Issuance of the certificate of occupancy or equivalent certification; and/or
3. The closing of the first sale of the property

(NOTE: Payment at the time of building permit issuance is the City’s current requirement.) 

Additional provisions of the new law include: 

• Deferral of payment for impact fees may be limited by the city to the first twenty (20)
single-family residential building permits per applicant, annually.

o The city may increase the number of deferrals beyond twenty per applicant
annually if the city desired to do so.

o For the purposes of this legislation, to limit the “spin-off LLC” issue, “applicant”
is defined to include “an entity that controls the applicant, is controlled by the
applicant, or is under common control with the applicant.”

ATTACHMENT 1

76 of 122



 
• The amount of the impact fees that may be deferred is determined by the fees in effect 

at the time an applicant applies for a deferral. 
 

• An applicant seeking a deferral must grant and record a lien against the property in 
favor of the municipality in the amount of the deferred impact fee. 
 

• Municipalities may collect reasonable administrative fees from applicants seeking a 
deferral. 
 

• Municipalities (and school districts) are authorized to institute foreclosure proceedings 
if impact fees are not paid when determined due by the city, or eighteen (18) months 
after issuance of the building permit, whichever occurs first. 
 

• The city must provide data to the Department of Commerce for an annual report, 
beginning December 1, 2018, on the payment and collection of impact fees. 
 

• ESB 5923 establishes the impact fee deferral system until 2022, when it would be re-
evaluated by the state legislature for possible further application.  

 
B. City Staff’s Recommendation for Covington’s Impact Fee Payment Deferral Program 

 
In the City of Covington item 1 (final inspection) and item 2 (issuance of the certificate of 
occupancy) above occur at the same time for single-family dwellings. This means that essentially 
two options are available for the city to choose from for requiring payment of deferred impact 
fees: 
 

1. Time of final inspection (this is when the City does an inspection of the single-family 
dwelling and approves the dwelling for occupancy); and/or 
 

2. Time of closing of the first sale of the property. 
 
City staff recommends the first options, a deferral program that defers the payment of impact 
fees until final inspection for a certificate of occupancy, for the following reasons: 
 

• Most importantly, the city would retain more control over administration of the process, 
making the program far more manageable for city staff. 
 

• The city’s permit tracking system is already set up to accommodate the tracking of 
payment deferrals as part of the building permit process.  
 

• By requiring payment of deferred impact fees at the time of final occupancy, the city can 
operate under its current reporting system and easily coordinate the tracking of deferred 
units with the finance department.  

 

77 of 122



 City staff does not recommend the second option, a deferral program that defers the payment of 
impact fees until closing of the first sale of the property, for the following reasons: 

 
• If deferred payments were delayed until closing, staff would be required to track down 

later unit sales and would also be in a position of dealing with multiple parties—buyer, 
seller, escrow agent, etc.—rather than just the applicant/seller.  
 

• The city’s permit tracking system is not set up to identify when a unit is sold or when 
payments are made through escrow.  
 

• Moving the deferral payment to closing may increase the finance department’s work load 
and would require modifications to their current system to accommodate escrow 
payments.  
 

• Further, allowing the fee to be paid at closing introduces some risks to the city and school 
district for collection of the impact fees. If the building is not sold after it is completed, 
the city would trigger payment of impact fees at 18 months from issuance of the building 
permit. If the fees are not paid, the only enforcement option the city will have is to send 
the matter to collections or foreclosure proceedings.  The city would then become a lien 
holder on the single-family dwelling, which is not an ideal situation.  Further, if legal 
action had to be taken, it would put additional strain upon the city’s finance department 
for tracking and collecting payments.  

 
C. How Will the Impact Fee Deferral Program Work in Covington? 

 
An applicant will be required to fill out an Impact Fee Deferral Request form and pay a non-
refundable administration fee to cover staff’s time to process the request and prepare the 
previously noted liens for recording against the property. If the applicant has not exceeded their 
twenty annual deferrals, city staff will prepare the lien against the property in the amount of the 
deferred impact fees and the applicant will be required to file the lien against the property. If the 
applicant has exceeded their twenty annual deferrals, city staff will deny their application and the 
applicant will be required to pay all impact fees at the time of building permit issuance. 
 
For approved payment deferrals, prior to the city’s final inspection and issuance of the certificate 
of occupancy, an applicant will be required to pay the deferred impact fees and remove the lien 
from the property. Once the applicant pays the impact fees (and associated administrative fees), 
and provides proof the lien has been removed, the city will complete the final inspection and 
issue the certificate of occupancy. At that time, the dwelling unit is authorized for occupancy. 
Temporary certificates of occupancy will not be issued when impact fees are deferred—an 
applicant will be required to complete their project and obtain final occupancy if they utilize the 
impact fee deferral program. 
 
D. Creation of New Title 19 CMC for Impact Fees 

 
As part of the impact fee deferral ordinance process, staff is reorganizing the current impact fee 
chapters in the Covington Municipal Code into a single new title for all impact fees—a new Title 

78 of 122



19 CMC (currently, transportation impact fees are in Title 12 and school impact fees are in Title 
18). The new impact fee payment deferral program will be included as part of the ordinance for 
adoption of the new Title 19. 
 
Because state statutes closely governs and dictates how the city may assess and collect impact 
fees, the new Title 19 serves primarily as a tool to restructure the same CMC provisions that 
currently govern the city’s collection of impact fees. However, in addition to restructuring and 
reorganizing the city’s current impact fee regulations for easier interpretation and 
implementation, staff will be presenting some recommended additions and changes to the current 
CMC, including: 
 

• Assessment of impact fees for a change of use if the change of use impacts public 
facilities (the city currently does not assess impact fees upon change of use). 
 

• Capping waivers of impact fees for low-income housing to eighty percent (80%) of the 
impact fees assessed for that project. State statutes allow for up to an 80% waiver of 
impact fees for low-income housing developments without requiring the waived impact 
fees to be matched by the city from funds other than the impact fee funds. Any waiver 
amount above 80% would require the city to pay the additional amount waived above 
80%.  
 

• Housekeeping updates to the type of building permits excluded from the assessment of 
impact fees (i.e. building permits that do not affect public facilities, such as for fences, 
decks, etc.) 

 
E. Next Steps 

 
Staff is working on completing the draft ordinance to adopt a new Title 19, Impact Fees 
(including the impact fee payment deferral program). A public hearing on the city’s proposed 
impact fee payment deferral program and new Title 19 is scheduled to be held at the August 9, 
2016, regular council meeting, which will be followed by council discussion and consideration 
of the proposed ordinance. Accordingly, the proposed ordinance to adopt a new Title 19, Impact 
fees (including the impact fee payment deferral program) will be included in the August 9, 2016 
council packet.    
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 

1. Return the issue to city staff for further study and analysis. 
 

Implementation of the impact fee payment deferral program is required by state law. While 
there are a few areas of flexibility to the code provisions governing the city’s specific impact 
fee payment deferral program (e.g. deferral of impact fees could be extended to the time of 
unit sale vs. time of final inspection; the city could increase the annual number of deferrals 
per applicant beyond twenty) the majority of the deferral program provisions, and the 
forthcoming proposed ordinance, follow state law requirements.    

 

79 of 122



 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
 
The implementation of the impact fee deferral program will cause the collection of transportation 
and school impact fees to be delayed beyond their current collection timeframes. Accordingly, 
there could be the same delay in the availability of said funds for corresponding capital 
improvement programs.  
 
The state legislation provides that local governments may collect reasonable administrative fees 
to cover the costs of implementing the deferral program. Staff is proposing that the council adopt 
a $143 Impact Fee Deferral Request non-refundable administrative fee to be assessed per 
request. The fee will be incorporated into the next fee resolution update and will be subject to 
increases as set forth by the council. (Note: $143 is the current billable rate for 1 hour of 
community development staff time.)  
 
The applicant will be responsible for all recording costs associated with the liens and the release 
of lien forms required for the impact fee deferral program.   
 
The deferral of impact fees does not preclude the developer from paying additional 
administrative fees for the collection and processing of the actual payment of impact fees as 
currently set forth in the city’s fee resolution. The current fee is $70 per impact fee 
(transportation and schools).  
 
As proposed, full cost-recovery for implementing the deferral program will be achieved through 
the applicable administrative fees and recording costs borne by the applicant.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance       Resolution         Motion   X  Other 
 

Discussion item only. 
 
REVIEWED BY: City Manager, Community Development Director, Finance Director, 
 City Attorney. 

80 of 122



Page 1 of 4 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-2016 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
ESTABLISHING A NEW TITLE 19 OF THE COVINGTON 
MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED, “IMPACT FEES”; 
REPEALING CHAPTERS 12.105 AND 18.120 CMC; 
AMENDING AND ADDING DEFINITIONS TO CHAPTER 
18.20 CMC RELATED TO THE SAME; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.  

WHEREAS, the Washington State Legislature passed the Growth Management 
Act of 1990 and 1991, Chapter 36.70A RCW and Chapter 82.02 RCW (the “Act”), which 
authorizes the collection of impact fees on development activity to provide public 
facilities to serve new development; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Covington (the “City”), has adopted code provisions 
governing the assessment and collection of impact fees for transportation in chapter 
12.105 of the Covington municipal Code (CMC), and for schools in chapter 18.120 
CMC; and 

WHEREAS, in the 2015 legislative session, the state legislature enacted ESB 
5923, which requires cities, towns, and counties to adopt a deferral system for the 
collection of impact fees for new single-family detached and attached residential 
construction; and  

WHEREAS, the deadline for cities, towns, and counties to implement an impact 
fee deferral system by September 1, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to restructure and combine all existing CMC 
chapters and future impact fee code provisions, including a new deferral system, into one 
new Title 19 CMC, to be entitled “Impact Fees”, for ease of review and application; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to restructuring and reorganizing existing CMC impact 
fee chapters into the new Title 19 CMC, city staff has identified additional housekeeping 
edits needed to update existing impact fee code provisions for consistency and clarity, all 
of which are incorporated into the new Title 19 CMC; and 

WHEREAS, as a result of adopting the new Title 19 CMC, city staff have also 
identified several amendments and additions needed in chapter 18.20 CMC, “Technical 
Terms and Land Use Definitions”, to correspond with the new Title 19 CMC; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s SEPA Responsible Official for the City determined that 
adoption of this ordinance is categorically exempt as a procedural action under WAC 
197-11-800(19);

ATTACHMENT 2

81 of 122



Page 2 of 4 
 

 
WHEREAS, upon providing appropriate public notice, the Covington City 

Council conducted a public hearing on August 9, 2016, to receive testimony regarding 
the proposed new Title 19 CMC, Impact Fees, which includes the addition of the state 
required impact fee deferral program;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Title 19 CMC, Impact Fees, Established. A new Title 19 of the Covington 
Municipal Code (CMC), entitled “Impact Fees”, is hereby established in its entirety as set forth 
in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated fully herein by this reference.  
 
Section 2. Chapter 12.105 CMC, Transportation Impact Fees, Repealed. Chapter 12.105 
CMC, “Transportation Impact Fees”, as adopted by Ordinance No. 38-02 and all amendments 
thereafter, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced by Title 19 CMC established in Section 
1 of this ordinance. All references in the CMC to Chapter 12.105 shall hereby be amended to 
reference Title 19 CMC. 
 
Section 3. Chapter 18.120 CMC, School Impact Fees, Repealed. Chapter 18.120 CMC, 
“School Impact Fees”, as adopted by Ordinance No. 42-02 and all amendments thereafter, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced by Title 19 CMC established in Section 1 of this 
ordinance. All references in the CMC to chapter 18.120 shall hereby be amended to reference 
Title 19 CMC. 
 
Section 4. CMC 18.20.170 Amended. Section 18.20.170 CMC, “Capital facilities plan, school” 
is hereby amended as follows: 
 

18.20.170 Capital facilities plan, school. 
“Capital facilities plan, school” means a district’s facilities plan adopted by the Kent 
School District school board consisting ofboard.: 
(1) A forecast of future needs for school facilities based on the district’s enrollment 
projections; 
(2) The long-range construction and capital improvements projects of the district; 
(3) The schools under construction or expansion; 
(4) The proposed locations and capacities of expanded or new school facilities; 
(5) At least a six-year financing plan component, updated as necessary to maintain at 
least a six-year forecast period, for financing needed school facilities within projected 
funding levels, and identifying sources of financing for such purposes, including bond 
issues authorized by the voters and projected bond issues not yet authorized by the voters; 
(6) Any other long-range projects planned by the district; 
(7) The current capacity of the district’s school facilities based on the districts adopted 
standard of service, and a plan to eliminate existing deficiencies, if any, without the use 
of impact fees; and 
(8) An inventory showing the location and capacity of existing school facilities. 

 
Section 5. CMC 18.20.171 Adopted. A new section 18.20.171 CMC, “Capital facilities plan, 
transportation”, is hereby adopted as follows: 

82 of 122



Page 3 of 4 
 

 
18.20.171 Capital Facilities plan, transportation 
“Capital facilities plan, transportation” means the transportation capital facilities plan 
adopted by the city of Covington’s comprehensive plan.  

 
Section 6. CMC 18.20.912 Adopted. A new section 18.20.912 CMC, “Proportionate share”, is 
hereby adopted as follows: 
 

18.20.912 Proportionate share 
“Proportionate share” means that portion of the cost of public facility improvements and 
facilities that are reasonably related to the service demands and needs of new 
development. 

 
Section 7. CMC 18.20.1268.5 Adopted. A new section 18.20.1268.5 CMC, “System 
Improvements”, is hereby adopted as follows: 
 

18.20.1268.5 System Improvements 
“System improvements” means public facilities that are included in the City’s capital 
facilities plan and are designed to provide service to service areas within the City, in 
contrast to project improvements.  

 
Section 8. Savings Clause. The repeal of any section of Chapter 12.105 CMC and/or Chapter 
18.120 CMC, or amendment to chapter 18.20 CMC, pursuant to this ordinance shall not affect 
any right or duty accrued or any proceeding commenced under the provisions of such repealed 
sections which were in existence on the effective date of the repealed CMC chapters herein.  
 
Section 9. Severability. Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
ordinance, or its application to any person or circumstance, be declared unconstitutional or 
otherwise invalid for any reason, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state 
or federal law or regulation, such decision or preemption shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 
 
Section 10. Corrections. Upon the approval of the city attorney, the city clerk and/or code 
publisher is authorized to make any necessary technical corrections to this ordinance including, 
but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, 
section/subsection numbers, and any reference thereto.  
 
Section 11. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be published in the official newspaper of the 
city and shall take full force and effect five (5) days after the date of publication. A summary of 
this ordinance in the form of the ordinance title may be published in lieu of publishing the 
ordinance in its entirety. 
 

[THIS SPACE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

SIGNTURES TO APPEAR ON THE NEXT PAGE] 

 

83 of 122



Page 4 of 4 
 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof on the 9th day of August, 2016, and signed in 
authentication of its passage.  
 

_______________________                                             
Mayor Jeff Wagner 

     
PUBLISHED:   
EFFECTIVE:    

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Sharon Scott 
City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Sara Springer 
City Attorney 
 

84 of 122



Page 1 of 21 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

TITLE 19 
IMPACT FEES 

 
19.10 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
19.20 IMPOSITION OF FEES 
19.30 TRANSPORTATION IMPACT FEES 
19.50 SCHOOL IMPACT FEES 
 

CHAPTER 19.10 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

19.10.010     Purpose. 
19.10.020     Authority. 
19.10.030     Definitions. 
19.10.040     Relationship to SEPA authority. 
 
19.10.010    Purpose. 
The purpose of this title is to implement the Capital Facilities Element of the Covington Comprehensive 
Plan and the policies and requirements of the Growth Management Act by: 
 
(1) Ensuring that adequate public facilities are available to serve new development; 

 
(2) Maintaining a high quality of life in Covington by requiring that new development bear a 

proportionate share of the cost of capital facilities necessary to support planned land uses and does 
not decrease the level of service available to existing residents and businesses;  
 

(3) Allowing recovery of the cost of completed public facilities to the extent that new growth is served by 
those facilities; and 
 

(4) Ensure fair collection and administration of such impact fees. 
 
19.10.020    Authority. 
This title is enacted pursuant to the City’s police powers, the Growth Management Act as codified in 
Chapter 36.70A RCW (“the Act”), and the impact fee statutes as codified in RCW 82.02.050 through 
82.02.100. The provisions of this title shall be liberally construed in order to carry out the purposes of the 
city council in providing for the assessment of impact fees. 
 
19.10.030 Definitions. 
Except for as provided herein, and unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the words and terms in 
this title shall have the ascribed meaning as provided for in chapter 18.20 CMC.  Words and terms 
otherwise not defined in chapter 18.20 CMC shall be defined pursuant to RCW 82.02.090, or given their 

85 of 122



Page 2 of 21 
 

usual and customary meaning.  
 
(1) For the purposes of this title, these words and terms shall have the following meaning: 

 
(a) “Applicant” is any person, collection of persons, corporation, partnership, an incorporated 

association, or any other similar entity, or department or bureau of any governmental entity or 
municipal corporation obtaining a building permit. “Applicant” includes an applicant and owner 
for the purpose of the impact fee deferral program pursuant to Title 19. 
 

(b) “Department” means both and either the City of Covington Community Development department 
and/or the City of Covington Public Works department.  
 

(c) “Director” means both and either the City of Covington Community Development Director and/or 
the City of Covington Public Works Director, or each of their respective designees. 
 

(d) “Feepayer” is a person, corporation, partnership, an incorporated association, or any other similar 
entity, or department or bureau of any governmental entity or municipal corporation 
commencing a development activity which creates the demand for additional system 
improvements and which requires the issuance of a permit for a given development activity. 
“Feepayer” includes an applicant for a transportation impact fee credit. 
 

(e) "Low-income housing" means housing with a monthly housing expense, that is no greater than 
thirty percent (30%) of eighty percent (80%) of the median family income adjusted for family size, 
for the county where the project is located, as reported by the United States Department of 
Housing and Urban Development, in accordance with RCW 82.02.060. 
 

19.10.040   Relationship to SEPA authority. 
Nothing in this title shall preclude the City from also requiring the applicant for a land use or building 
permit, or a change in use if no building permit is required, to mitigate adverse environmental impacts of a 
specific development pursuant to the State Environmental Policy Act, Chapter 43.21C RCW, based on the 
environmental documents accompanying the underlying development approval process, and/or 
Chapter 58.17 RCW, governing plats and subdivisions; provided, that the exercise of this authority is 
consistent with the provisions of RCW 82.02.050.  
 
 

  

86 of 122



Page 3 of 21 
 

CHAPTER 19.20 
IMPOSITION OF IMPACT FEES 

 

19.20.010 Application. 
19.20.020 Impact fee program elements. 
19.20.030 Service area. 
19.20.040 Imposition of impact fees. 
19.20.050 Fee calculations; payment. 
19.20.060 Exclusions. 
19.20.070 Deferral of impact fee payment. 
19.20.080 Low-income housing exemption. 
19.20.090 Credits. 
19.20.100 Independent fee calculation. 
19.20.110  Adjustment of fees. 
19.20.120 Refunds.  
19.20.130 Payments under protest; appeals.  
19.20.140 Impact fee accounts; reporting. 
 

19.20.010 Application. 
This chapter shall apply to all impact fees imposed under this title. 
 
19.20.020  Impact fee program elements. 
(1) The City shall impose impact fees on every development activity in the city for which an impact fee 

schedule has been established. 
 

(2) Any impact fee imposed shall be reasonably related to the impact caused by the development and 
shall not exceed a proportionate share of the costs of system improvements that are reasonably 
related to the new development. The impact fee formula shall account in the fee calculation for future 
revenues the City will receive from the development. 
 

(3) The impact fee shall be based on the capital facilities element adopted by the City as part of the City’s 
comprehensive plan.  
 

19.20.030 Service area. 
(1) Generally. Except as provided for herein, the City of Covington is hereby established as the service 

area for impact fees under this title, including all property located within the corporate limits of the 
City. 
 

(2) School impact fees. For purposes of the school impact fees established in chapter 19.40 CMC of this 
title, all land within the boundaries of the Kent School District shall be considered a single service area 
and the City shall impose impact fees within that portion of the Kent School District lying within City 
corporate limits.  

87 of 122



Page 4 of 21 
 

 
(3) The scope of the service areas identified in this section is hereby found to be reasonable, established 

on the basis of sound planning and engineering principles, and consistent with RCW 82.02.060. 
 
19.20.040 Imposition of impact fees. 
(1) The City shall collect applicable impact fees adopted under this title from any feepayer seeking 

development permits or plat or other land use approval from the City where such development 
activity requires the recording of a residential subdivision, issuance of a building permit, or approval 
for a change in use, except for as provided otherwise in this title. This shall include, but is not limited 
to, the development of residential, commercial, retail, office, and industrial land, and includes the 
expansion of existing uses that creates a demand for additional system improvements as well as a 
change in existing use that creates a demand for additional system improvements.  
 

(2) For a change in use of an existing building or dwelling unit, including any alteration, expansion, 
replacement or new accessory building that generates additional impact, the impact fee shall be the 
applicable impact fee for the land use category of the new use, less any impact fee previously paid for 
the land use category of the prior use. If no impact fee was paid for the prior use, the impact fee for 
the new use shall be reduced by an amount equal to the current impact fee rate of the current use. 
 

(3) The impact fees assessed for developments containing more than one type of use shall be calculated 
separately for each type of use pursuant to this title and the City’s current fee resolution.   
 

(4) Development activities that have been allowed credits pursuant to CMC 19.20.XXX prior to the 
submittal of the complete building permit application or an application for a permit for a change in 
land use shall submit, along with the complete permit application, a copy of the letter issued by the 
Director pursuant to CMC 19.20.XXX setting forth the dollar amount and basis of the approved credit. 
The net impact fees, as determined after the reduction of appropriate credits, shall be collected from 
the feepayer in accordance with this section. 

 
19.20.050 Fee calculations; payment. 
(5) A preliminary impact fee assessment will be provided by the Department during the review and 

approval of a given development activity, typically a building permit application or a permit for a 
change in land use.  
 

(6) A final impact fee assessment, based upon the impact fee rate in effect as of the date the actual 
permit is issued, shall be made by the Department, and the fee(s) shall be due and payable in full at 
the time of issuance of the permit.  
 

(7) All feepayers shall be required to pay an administrative fee for each impact fee collected at the rate 
set forth for each in the City’s current fee schedule. 

 
(8) Failure to pay the impact fees assessed for a given development activity at the time that such impact 

fees are due and payable shall result in denial of the underlying permit for which the feepayer has 

88 of 122



Page 5 of 21 
 

applied, except for as provided in CMC 19.20.XXX.  
 

19.20.060 Exclusions. 
(1) The following development activities and building permit applications do not create additional impact 

public facilities and are excluded from the imposition of impact fees adopted under this title. 
(Additional exceptions from individual impact fees can be found in chapters 19.30 and 19.40 of this 
title):  
 
(a)  Shelters or dwelling units for temporary placement, which provide housing to persons on a  

temporary basis as defined in CMC 18.20.220. 
 

(b) Reconstruction, remodeling, alteration, or replacement of existing legally established single-family 
or multi-family dwelling unit(s) that does not result in the creation of additional dwelling units or a 
change of use.  
 

(c) Reconstruction, remodeling, alteration, or replacement of an existing legally established 
nonresidential building that does not expand the usable space.   
 

(d) Replacement of a structure with a new structure of the same gross floor area at the same site or 
lot when such replacement occurs within one (1) year of the demolition or destruction of the prior 
structure; provided that there is no change in use. 
 

(e) A legal accessory dwelling unit approved under CMC 18.20.350 and 18.25.030(7), as it is 
considered part of the single-family use associated with this title. 
 

(f) Any development activity that is exempt from the payment of an impact fee pursuant to RCW 
82.02.100 due to full mitigation of the same system improvement under the State Environmental 
Policy Act. 
 

(g) Mobile homes permitted as temporary dwellings pursuant to CMC 18.85.170.  
 

(h) Miscellaneous site improvements that do not affect the use of the property or the primary 
structure, including, but not limited to, fences, retaining walls, swimming pools, mechanical units, 
and signs. Determination of the building and land use permits that qualify for exclusion under this 
subsection shall be at the sole discretion of the Community Development Director, or his/her 
designee, and shall be final. 
 

(i) Demolition or moving of a structure. 
 

(2) The Director shall be authorized to determine whether a particular development activity falls within 
an exemption identified in this section or under other applicable law. Determinations of the Director 
shall be in writing and shall be subject to the appeals procedures set forth in CMC 14.30.XXX.  
 
 

89 of 122



Page 6 of 21 
 

19.20.070 Deferral of impact fee payment. 
At any time prior to building permit issuance, and pursuant to the requirements of this section, an 
applicant for a single-family attached or detached dwelling unit may request to defer payment of impact 
fees assessed on such dwelling unit until final inspection.  
 
(1) The applicant shall submit a deferred impact fee application, provided by the City, that shall include 

the following information, as applicable: 
 
(a) the applicant’s corporate identity and contractor registration number;  

 
(b) the full names of all legal owners of the property upon which the development activity allowed by 

the building permit is to occur; 
 

(c) the legal description of the property upon which the development activity allowed by the building 
permit is to occur; 
 

(d) the tax parcel identification number of the property upon which the development activity allowed 
by the building permit is to occur; and  
 

(e) the address of the property upon which the development activity allowed by the building permit 
is to occur.  
 

(f) All applications shall be accompanied by payment of an administrative fee according to the City’s 
current fee resolution. 

 
(2) The impact fee amount due under any request to defer payment of impact fees shall be based on the 

schedule in effect at the time the applicant provides the City with the information required in 
subsection (1) of this section. 

 
(3) Prior to the issuance of a building permit that is the subject of a request for a deferred payment of 

impact fees, all applicants and/or legal owners of the property upon which the development activity 
allowed by the building permit is to occur must sign a deferred impact fee payment lien in a form 
acceptable to the City.  

 
(a) The deferred impact fee payment lien shall be recorded against the property subject to the 

building permit and be granted in favor of the City in the amount of the deferred impact fee. Any 
such lien shall be junior and subordinate only to one mortgage for the purpose of construction 
upon the same real property subject to the building permit.  
 

(b) In addition to the administrative fee required in subsection (1) of this section, the applicant shall 
pay to the City the fees necessary for recording the lien agreement with the King County recorder. 

 
(4) The City shall not approve a final inspection until the impact fees identified in the deferred impact fee 

payment lien are paid in full. 

90 of 122



Page 7 of 21 
 

 
(5) In no case shall payment of the impact fee be deferred for a period of more than eighteen (18) 

months from the date of building permit issuance. 
 
(6) Upon receipt of final payment of the deferred impact fee as identified in the deferred impact fee 

payment lien, the City shall execute a release of lien for the property. The property owner shall be 
responsible, at their own expense, to record the lien release. 

 
(7) In the event that the deferred impact fee is not paid within the time provided in this section, the City 

shall institute foreclosure proceedings under the process set forth in Chapter 61.12 RCW.  
 
(8) An applicant is entitled to defer impact fees pursuant to this section for no more than twenty (20) 

single-family dwelling unit building permits per year in the city. 
 
19.20.080 Low-income housing exemption. 
Pursuant to RCW 82.02.060, any feepayer intending to develop low-income housing projects developed or 
owned by public housing agencies, or private nonprofit housing feepayers, may request to be exempt 
from up to eighty percent (80%) of the impact fees imposed on the low-income housing units to be 
developed, subject to the following: 
 
(1) The feepayer shall be responsible for providing documentation to the City that their project qualifies 

for a low-income housing impact fee exemption pursuant to this section.  
 

(2) Any claim or request for a waiver under this section shall be made no later than the time of issuance 
of a building permit. If a building permit is not required for the development activity, the claim shall 
be made when the impact fees are tendered. Any claim not made when required by this section shall 
be deemed waived. 
 

(3) Except for as provided otherwise in this title, the determination to grant or deny an exemption from 
impact fees under this section shall be in the sole discretion of the city council after consideration in 
an open public meeting of the following criteria: 

 
(a) public benefit of the specific project; 

 
(b) the hardship to the project of the impact fees; 

 
(c) the impacts of the project; and  

 
(d) any other factors deemed relevant by the city council.  
 

(4) As a condition of receiving an exemption under this section, the owner shall execute and record in 
King County’s real property title records a City-drafted lien, covenant, or other contractual provision 
against the property that provides that the proposed housing unit or development will continue to be 
used for low-income housing and remain affordable to those households under the regulations of the 

91 of 122



Page 8 of 21 
 

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.  
 
(a) The term of this lien, covenant, or contractual provision shall be ten (10) years for individual 

owners and fifteen (15) years for private and private nonprofit applicants/builders.  
 

(b) The lien, covenant, or other contractual provision shall run with the land and apply to subsequent 
owners and assigns.  
 

(c) In the event that the housing unit(s) is no longer used for low-income housing during the term of 
the lien, covenant, or contractual provision, the owner shall be required to promptly pay to the 
City all impact fees owed for the property according to the current fee resolution at the time of 
payment. 

 
19.20.090 Credits. 
(1) A feepayer may request that a credit or credits for the value of system improvements, including 

dedications of land, improvements, and/or construction provided by the feepayer, be applied toward 
assessed impact fees.  
 
(a) Any claim for credit must be made no later than fourteen (14) calendar days after the submission 

of an application for a building permit or an application for a permit for a change in use. The 
failure to timely file such a claim shall constitute a final bar to later request any such credit. 
 

(b) Requests for a credit shall be made in writing and on the applicable City form, if provided.  
 

(c) Each request for a credit or credits shall include, at a minimum, a legal description of the 
dedicated land and/or a detailed description of the improvements or construction provided, and a 
legal description or other adequate description of the development to which the credit will be 
applied. 
 

(2) For each request for a credit or credits, the Director shall determine the value of the dedicated land, 
improvements, and/ or construction on a case-by-case basis. 
 
(a) If appropriate, the Director may select an appraiser from a list of independent appraisers. The 

appraiser shall be directed to determine the value of the dedicated land, improvements, or 
construction provided by the developer for the City.  
 

(b) The developer shall pay for the cost of an appraisal conducted by the Department pursuant to this 
subsection, including time for review by City staff. An estimate of the appraisal and review costs 
will be prepared by the Department, and the feepayer shall pay the estimated costs prior to 
commencement of the appraisal and review. If the final cost of the appraisal and review is in 
excess of the initial estimate and payment, any difference will be due prior to the issuance of a 
letter or certificate from the Director. If the final cost of the appraisal and review is less than the 
initial estimate and payment, the Department shall give a refund for the difference. 
 

92 of 122



Page 9 of 21 
 

(3) In the event that that feepayer disagrees with the Director’s valuation of land, improvements, or 
construction provided under subsection (2) of this section, the feepayer may submit a valuation for 
the Director’s consideration. 

 
(a) The appraiser (or review engineer) used by the feepayer must be qualified, licensed, and shall not 

have a fiduciary or personal interest in the property being appraised. A description of the 
appraiser’s certification shall be included with the appraisal, and the appraiser shall certify that 
he/she does not have a fiduciary or personal interest in the property being appraised. 
 

(b) Appraisals and/or engineering valuations submitted by the feepayer shall be subject to review by 
the Director and, at the Director’s discretion, an independent review appraiser/engineer selected 
by the Director. The feepayer shall pay for the actual costs for the appraisal/valuation and the 
independent review pursuant to subsection (2)(b) of this section.  

 
(4) A credit will be given only if the land, improvements, and/or the facility constructed are: 

 
(a) Included within the capital facilities plan or would serve the goals and objectives of the capital 

facilities plan; and 
 

(b) Are at suitable sites and constructed at acceptable quality as determined by the Director; and 
 

(c) Serve to offset impacts of the feepayer’s development activity; and 
 

(d) Are for one or more of the projects listed as the basis for calculating the respective impact fee. 
 

(e) No credit shall be given for project improvements required of the development by City code 
and/or SEPA; only dedications in excess of those required by law are eligible for credit.  
 

(5) The Director shall determine if requests for credits meet the criteria of this section, or under other 
applicable law.  
 
(a) Nothing herein shall be interpreted to limit the discretion of the Director to decline to accept any 

proposed dedication. 
 

(b) In no event shall the credit exceed the amount of the impact fees due. If the total value of any 
credit for such dedication, improvement, or construction costs exceeds the amount of the 
applicable impact fee assessment, the feepayer will not be entitled to reimbursement of the 
difference. 
 

(c) If credit is awarded, the Director shall provide the feepayer with a letter setting forth the dollar 
amount of any credit, the reason for the credit, the legal description of the real property 
dedicated where applicable, and the legal description or other adequate description of the project 
or development to which the credit may be applied. The feepayer must sign and date a duplicate 
copy of such letter indicating his/her agreement to the terms of the letter and return such signed 

93 of 122



Page 10 of 21 
 

document to the Director before the Department will apply the impact fee credit. The failure of 
the feepayer to sign, date, and return such document within (sixty) 60 calendar days of the 
Director’s issuance of the letter shall nullify the credit.  
 

(d) If credit is denied, the Director shall provide the feepayer with a letter setting forth the reasons 
for denial.  
 

(6) Determinations made by the Director pursuant to this section shall be subject to the appeal 
procedures set forth in CMC 14.30.XXX.  

 
19.20.100 Independent fee calculation. 
(1) As an alternative to the payment of impact fees as provided in the schedules set forth in this title, if, in 

the judgment of the Director, none of the fee categories or fee amounts set forth in this title 
accurately describes or captures the impacts of a new development, the Department may conduct 
independent fee calculations and the Director may impose alternative impact fees on a specific 
development based on those calculations. 
 

(2) A feepayer may also request that assessed impact fees on the proposed development be calculated 
according to an independent fee calculation study submitted by the feepayer and approved by the 
Department as provided in this section. A feepayer may submit an independent fee calculation study 
for one or more impact fees and use the impact fee schedules in this title for one or more impact fees. 

 
(3) All independent fee calculation studies by a feepayer shall be submitted to the Department for review 

and approval. The study shall be accompanied by the administrative fee required for conducting the 
review, as set forth in the current fee schedule, or billed by the hour at the current hourly rate for 
Department staff time if no corresponding fee is included in the fee schedule. The independent fee 
calculation study shall meet the following standards: 

 
(a) The study shall follow accepted impact fee assessment practices and methodologies. 

 
(b) The study shall use acceptable data sources, and the data shall be comparable with the uses and 

intensities proposed for the proposed development activity. 
 

(c) The study shall comply with applicable state laws governing impact fees, including but not limited 
to RCW 82.02.060, or its successor. 
 

(d) The study, including any data collection and analysis, shall be prepared and documented by 
professionals qualified in their respective fields. 
 

(e) The study shall show the basis upon which the independent fee calculation was made. 
 
(4) Director’s determination. 

(a) There is a rebuttable presumption that the methodologies and rates set for the impact fees 
imposed by this title are valid.  

94 of 122



Page 11 of 21 
 

 
(b) The Director shall consider the documentation submitted by the feepayer, but is not required to 

accept such documentation or analysis which the Director reasonably deems to be inapplicable, 
inaccurate, or not reliable.  
 

(c) The Director may require the feepayer to submit additional or different documentation for 
consideration.  
 

(d) The Director is authorized to adjust the impact fees on a case-by-case basis based on the 
independent fee calculation, the specific characteristics of the development, and/or principles of 
fairness.  
 

(e) The Director’s determination regarding the fees or alternative fees, and any associated 
calculations, shall be provided to the feepayer in writing.  
 

(5) Determinations made by the Director pursuant to this section shall be subject to the appeals 
procedures set forth in CMC 14.30.XXX.  
 

19.20.110 Adjustment of fees. 
(1) Impact fees may be adjusted by the City if one of the following circumstances exists and only if any 

applicable discount set forth in the applicable fee formula fails to adjust for the error in the calculation 
or fails to ameliorate for the unfairness of the fee: 

 
(a) The feepayer demonstrates that the impact fee assessment was incorrectly calculated; or 

 
(b) Unusual circumstances identified by the feepayer demonstrate that if the standard impact fee 

were applied it would unfair or unjust.  
 
(2) Request for adjustment.  

 
(a) Any request by a feepayer for an adjustment pursuant to this section shall be provided to the 

Department in writing. The feepayer shall pay an administrative fee as set forth in the City’s 
current fee schedule for an individually determined impact fee. 
 

(b) A feepayer may provide studies and data to demonstrate that any particular factor used by the 
City may not appropriately apply to the development proposal; provided that the City’s data shall 
be presumed valid unless clearly demonstrated to be otherwise by the feepayer.  
 

(3) Director’s Determination. 
 
(a) The Director shall be authorized to determine whether any adjustment of impact fees shall be 

awarded pursuant to this section.  
 

95 of 122



Page 12 of 21 
 

(b) There is a rebuttable presumption that the individual impact fee rate calculations adopted 
pursuant to this title are valid.  
 

(c) The Director shall consider the documentation submitted by the feepayer, but is not required to 
accept such documentation or analysis which the Director reasonably deems to be inapplicable, 
inaccurate or not reliable.  
 

(d) The Director may require the feepayer to submit additional or different documentation for 
consideration. 
 

(e)  The Director is authorized to adjust the impact fees on a case-by-case basis based on the specific 
characteristics of the development and/or principles of fairness.  
 

(f) The Director’s final determination shall be made in writing and must set forth the reasons for the 
decision.  
 

(4) For requests to adjust a transportation impact fee assessed pursuant to chapter 19.30 CMC, 
specifically, the Director shall consider the following sources of information: 

 
(a) The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation User’s Guide, latest edition. 

 
(b) If the feepayer proposes a trip generation rate other than that set forth in the ITE Trip Generation 

User’s Guide, latest edition, the feepayer shall provide supporting studies or data for a minimum 
of three comparison sites, at the same level of detail as would be necessary for the data to be 
accepted by ITE for inclusion in its database for trip generation. 
 

(c) Any other data or studies submitted by a qualified transportation professional affiliated with the 
Institute of Transportation Engineers or a professional engineer licensed by the State of 
Washington. 
 

(5) Determinations made by the Director pursuant to this section shall be subject to the appeals 
procedures set forth in CMC 14.30.XXX.  
 

19.20.120 Refunds.  
(1) The City shall, in accordance with RCW 82.02.080: 

 
(a) Refund to the current owners of property on which an impact fee has been paid any impact fees 

paid with respect to such property that has not been expended or encumbered for public facilities 
of the type of which such impact fees were collected within the time frame required under RCW 
82.02.080. 
 

(b) Refund to the current owner of property on which an impact fee has been paid all impact fees 
paid with respect to such property if the development activity for which the impact fee was 

96 of 122

http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=82.02.080


Page 13 of 21 
 

imposed did not occur and no impact has resulted. 
 

(c) Refund all unexpended or unencumbered funds, including interest earned, when the City seeks to 
terminate any or all impact fee requirements.  
 

(2) If some, but not all, of the development activity for which the impact fee was imposed occurred, the 
impact will be deemed to have occurred, and no refund will be payable; provided, however, that the 
property on which the impact fee was paid shall be eligible to receive a credit toward any subsequent 
development activity on the property up to the full amount of the payment. 
 

(3) Owners seeking a refund of impact fees must submit a written request for a refund of impact fees to 
the Director or designee within one (1) year of the date the right to claim the refund arises, which, for 
purposes of refund claims authorized pursuant to subsection (1)(b) of this section only, shall be the 
date of voluntary or involuntary abandonment of the permit, or the date that notice is given, 
whichever occurs later.  

 
(4) Any impact fees not expended within the time limitations, and for which no application for a refund 

has been made within the one-year claim period, shall be retained and expended on system 
improvements for which such impact fees were initially collected, without further limitation as to the 
time of expenditure. 

 
(5) The interest due on the refund of impact fees as required by RCW 82.02.080, or its successor, shall be 

calculated according to the average rate received by the City on invested funds throughout the period 
during which the impact fees were retained.  

 
19.20.130 Payments under protest; appeals.  
(1) The determination of the Director or designee regarding the applicability of an impact fee to a given 

development activity within the service area shall be final; however, a feepayer may pay an impact fee 
imposed pursuant to this title under protest in order to obtain a permit and, after such payment, file 
an appeal regarding the amount of the impact fee or a determination made pursuant to this title to 
the Hearing Examiner pursuant to the procedures for Type II decisions under CMC 14.30.XXX.  
 

(2) Appeals regarding the amount of the impact fee imposed on any development activity may only be 
filed by the applicant of the development activity, pursuant to chapter 14.45 CMC. 

 
(3) In addition to specific appeal procedures outlined in this title, any decision made by the Department in 

the course of administering this title may be appealed in accordance with the procedures for 
appealing the underlying permit and shall not be required to pursue a separate appeal process. This 
shall include the requirement to pay impact fees.  

 
19.20.140 Impact fee accounts; reporting. 
(1) The City of Covington Finance Department shall earmark all impact fees collected under this title as to 

the person paying them, the date paid, and the type of impact fee paid. The Finance Department shall 

97 of 122



Page 14 of 21 
 

promptly deposit all fees collected in appropriate special interest-bearing accounts. A separate 
account shall be established for each type of impact fee. All interest shall be retained in the account 
and expended for the purposes for which the impact fee was imposed. While maintaining fees in 
separate accounts, pooled investments may be used. 
 

(2) Funds withdrawn from the impact fee accounts must be used in accordance with the provisions of this 
title and applicable state law. 

 
(3) On an annual basis, the finance director shall provide a report to the city council on the impact fee 

accounts showing the source and amount of all moneys collected, earned, or received, and the public 
improvements that were financed in whole or in part by impact fees. 
 

(4) Impact fees shall be expended or encumbered for a permissible use within ten (10) years of receipt, 
unless the city council identifies in written findings that there exists an extraordinary and compelling 
reason for impact fees to be held longer than (10) ten years. Under such circumstances, the council 
shall establish the period of time within which the impact fees shall be expended or encumbered.  

 

 

98 of 122



Page 15 of 21 
 

CHAPTER 19.30 
TRANSPORTATION IMPACT FEE 

 
19.30.010 Purpose. 
19.30.020 Application. 
19.30.030 Administrative guidelines. 
19.30.040 Exemptions.  
19.30.050 Assessment of fee. 
19.30.060 Rate methodology; fee schedule. 
19.30.070 Use of funds. 
19.30.080 Relationship to concurrency. 
 
 
19.30.010 Purpose. 
The purpose of this chapter is to: 
 
(1) Develop a program consistent with the City’s comprehensive plan for joint public and private financing 

of public streets and roads (“transportation facilities”) consistent with the capital facilities plan of the 
City of Covington comprehensive plan, as such transportation facilities are necessitated in whole or in 
part by development in the City; 
 

(2) Ensure adequate levels of service in transportation facilities; and 
 

(3) Establish a mechanism to charge and collect fees to ensure that all new development bears its 
proportionate share of the capital costs of transportation facilities reasonably related to new 
development, in order to ensure the availability of adequate transportation facilities at the time new 
development occurs.  

 
19.30.020 Application. 
Except as otherwise provided for under this title, development activity in the City’s service area shall be 
charged a transportation impact fee pursuant to this chapter. 
 
19.30.030 Administrative guidelines. 
The Director shall be authorized to adopt internal guidelines for the administration of transportation 
impact fees under this chapter, which may include the adoption of standard operating procedures and 
administrative policy for transportation impact fees. 
 
19.30.040 Exemptions. 
Public school districts, as feepayer, shall be exempt from the assessment and collection of transportation 
impact fees under this chapter, as authorized by exemptions for a broad public purpose under RCW 
82.02.060(2). 
 
19.30.050 Assessment of fee. 
The transportation impact fee shall be assessed according to the units of daily vehicle trips applicable to 

99 of 122



Page 16 of 21 
 

the type of development as set forth in the current transportation impact fee schedule as created 
pursuant to this chapter and adopted by the city council. 
 
19.30.060  Rate methodology; fee schedule.  
(1) Rate methodology. The City has conducted extensive research and analysis documenting the 

procedures for measuring the impact of new developments on public facilities, has prepared the “Rate 
Study for Transportation Impact Fees, City of Covington” dated 2009 (“rate study”), as may be 
amended from time to time, and incorporates that rate study into this chapter by this reference. The 
rate study utilizes a methodology (or formula) for calculating impact fees that fulfills all of the 
requirements of RCW 82.02.060(1). A copy of the rate study shall be kept on file with the City Clerk 
and is available to the public for review. 
 

(2) Transportation impact fee schedule.  
 

(a) The City’s transportation impact fee schedule is generated from the formula for calculating impact 
fees set forth in the rate study adopted in subsection (1) herein (“transportation impact fee 
schedule”).  
 

(b) Either the Department shall establish the traffic impact fee rate for a land use that is not listed in 
the transportation impact fee schedule.  
 

(c) The feepayer shall submit all information requested by the Department for purposes of 
determining the impact fee rate pursuant to this section. 
 

(d) Alternatively, the transportation impact fee schedule may be amended by a City Council 
resolution. 
 

(3) For mixed use developments, traffic impact fees shall be imposed for the proportionate share of each 
land use based on the applicable measurement in the traffic impact as set forth in the traffic impact 
fee schedule. 

 
19.30.070  Use of funds. 
(1) Pursuant to this chapter, traffic impact fees: 

(a) Shall be used for public improvements that will reasonably benefit new development; and 
 

(b) Shall not be imposed to make up for deficiencies in public facilities serving existing developments; 
and 
 

(c) Shall not be used for maintenance or operations. 
 
(2) Transportation impact fees may be spent for public improvements to streets and such other uses, 
including, but not limited to, transportation planning, engineering design studies, land surveying, land 

100 of 122



Page 17 of 21 
 

acquisition, right-of-way acquisition, site improvements, necessary off-site improvements, construction, 
architectural, permitting, financing, and administrative expenses, applicable impact fees or mitigation 
costs, and any other expenses that can be capitalized. 
 
(3) Transportation impact fees may also be used to recoup public improvement costs previously incurred 
by the City to the extent that new growth and development will be served by the previously constructed 
improvements or incurred costs. 
 
(4) In the event that bonds or similar debt instruments are or have been issued for the advanced provision 
of public improvements for which impact fees may be expended, impact fees may be used to pay debt 
service on such bonds or similar debt instruments to the extent that the facilities or improvements 
provided are consistent with the requirements of this section and are used to serve the new development. 
 
19.30.080 Relationship to Concurrency 
Neither compliance with this chapter nor the payment of any fee hereunder shall constitute a 
determination of concurrency under chapter 12.95 CMC.  
  

101 of 122



Page 18 of 21 
 

CHAPTER 19.40 
SCHOOL IMPACT FEE 

 
19.40.010 Purpose; authority.  
19.40.020 Interlocal agreement required.  
19.40.030 Submission of district capital facilities plan and data. 
19.40.040 Annual council review. 
19.40.050 Exclusions. 
19.40.060 Fee calculations. 
19.40.070 Assessment of fee.  
19.40.080 Use of funds.  
19.40.090 Impact fee accounts; payment.  
 
19.40.010 Purpose; authority. 
The continuing growth and development in the City of Covington will create additional demand and need 
for school facilities. The Washington State Growth Management Act requires that new growth and 
development should pay a proportionate share of the cost of new facilities needed to serve the new 
growth and development. 
 
Therefore, pursuant to Chapter 82.02 RCW, the purpose of this chapter is to authorize the assessment and 
collection of school impact fees. The provisions of this chapter shall be liberally construed in order to carry 
out the purposes of the city in establishing the school impact fee program. 
 
19.40.020 Interlocal agreement required.  
As a condition of the City’s authorization and adoption of a school impact fee ordinance, the city and 
district shall enter into an interlocal agreement governing the operation of the school impact fee program, 
and describing the relationship and liabilities of the parties thereunder. 
 
19.40.030 Submission of district capital facilities plan and data. 
(1) On an annual basis, the district shall submit the following materials to the city council: 

 
(a)  The district’s capital facilities plan and adopted by the school board; 

 
(b)  The district’s enrollment projections over the next six (6) years, its current enrollment and the 

district’s enrollment projections and actual enrollment from the previous year; 
 

(c) The district’s standard of service; 
 

(d)  The district’s overall capacity over the next six (6) years, which shall take into account the 
available capacity from school facilities planned by the district but not yet built and be a function 
of the district’s standard of service as measured by the number of students which can be housed 
in district facilities; and  
 

(e)  An inventory of the district’s existing facilities. 

102 of 122



Page 19 of 21 
 

 
(2)  To the extent that the district’s standard of service identifies a deficiency in its existing facilities, the 

district’s capital facilities plan must identify the sources of funding other than impact fees for building 
or acquiring the necessary facilities to serve the existing student population in order to eliminate the 
deficiencies within a reasonable period of time. 

 
(3)  Facilities to meet future demand shall be designed to meet the adopted standard of service. If 

sufficient funding is not projected to be available to fully fund a capital facilities plan which meets the 
adopted standard of service, the district’s capital facilities plan should document the reason for the 
funding gap, and identify all sources of funding that the district plans to use to meet the adopted 
standard of service. 

 
(4)  The district shall also submit an annual report to the city council showing the capital improvements 

which were serviced in whole or in part by the school impact fees. 
 
(5)  In its development of the financing plan component of the capital facilities plan, the district shall plan 

on a six (6) year horizon and shall demonstrate its best efforts by taking the following steps: 
 
(a)  Establish a six (6) year financing plan, and propose the necessary bond issues and levies required 

by and consistent with that plan and as-approved by the school board consistent with RCW 
28A.53.020, 84.52.052 and 84.52.056 as amended; and 
 

(b)  Apply to the state for funding, and comply with the state requirements for eligibility to the best of 
the district’s ability. 

 
19.40.040 Annual council review. 
The city council shall review on an annual basis the materials received from the district and required under 
this chapter. The city council may make adjustments to the school impact fee schedule as necessitated by 
its review or applicable law, and, if the city council deems appropriate, shall adopt the school impact fee 
schedule by resolution. The review and fee schedule adoption decision may occur in conjunction with the 
annual update of the capital facilities plan element of the City’s comprehensive plan. 
 
19.40.050 Exclusions 
(1) The following development activities do not create any additional school impacts, or fully mitigate for 
any school impacts, and are exempt from the collection and assessment of school impact fees under this 
chapter: 

(a) Any development of housing for the elderly, including nursing homes, retirement centers, and any 
type of housing units for persons age fifty-five (55) and over, which have recorded covenants or 
recorded declaration of restrictions precluding school-aged children as residents in those units. 
 

(b) Any construction or building permit that does not include residential sleeping/bedroom space. 
 

(a) Any change of use that does not increase the scope or nature of the residential use of the 

103 of 122



Page 20 of 21 
 

property. 
 

(b) Any development activity for which school impacts have been fully mitigated pursuant to a 
condition of development approval (e.g. plat approval) to pay fees, dedicate land, or construct or 
improve school facilities, unless the condition of the development approval provides otherwise. 
 

(c) Any development activity for which school impacts have been fully mitigated pursuant to a 
voluntary agreement entered into with the district to pay fees, dedicate land, or construct or 
improve school facilities, unless the terms of the voluntary agreement provide otherwise; 
provided that the agreement predates the effective date of impact fee imposition. 

 
(2) The Director shall be authorized to determine whether a particular development activity falls within 

an exclusion identified in this section or under other applicable law. Determinations of the Director 
shall be in writing and shall be subject to the appeals procedures set forth in CMC 14.30.XXX.  
 

19.40.060 Fee calculations. 
(1) The school impact fee shall be based on a formula based on the capital facilities plan developed by the 

district and approved by the school board, and adopted by reference by the City as part of the capital 
facilities element of the City’s comprehensive plan. 
 

(2) The school impact fees for the district shall be calculated based on a formula that takes into account: 
 
(a) the capital facilities needs of the district as identified in the district’s capital facilities plan; 

 
(b) the district’s student generation rates for single-family and multifamily dwelling units; 

 
(c) the school site and school construction costs per student per grade level; 

 
(d) the district’s standard of service; and  

 
(e) the relocatable facilities cost per student per grade level. 

 
(3) Separate fees shall be calculated for single-family and multifamily dwelling units, and separate student 

generation rates must be determined by the district for each type of dwelling unit. For purposes of 
this chapter, manufactured homes shall be treated as single-family dwelling units and duplexes shall 
be treated as multifamily dwelling units. 
 

(4) The fee calculations shall be made on a district-wide basis to assure maximum utilization of all school 
facilities in the district currently used for instructional purposes. Impact fees shall be calculated 
annually and set forth in a fee schedule adopted by city council. 
 

19.40.070 Assessment of fees. 
(1) The City shall collect school impact fees, based on the fee schedule adopted by city council pursuant 

to this chapter, from any feepayer seeking development approval from the City where such 

104 of 122



Page 21 of 21 
 

development activity requires the issuance of a residential building permit or a manufactured home 
permit, except as otherwise provided for herein.  
 

(2) School impact fees will be imposed on a district by district basis, on behalf of any school district which 
provides to the city a capital facilities plan, the district’s standards of service for the various grade 
spans, estimates of the cost of providing needed facilities and other capital improvements, and the 
data from the district. Any school impact fee imposed shall be reasonably related to the impact 
caused by the development and shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost of system 
improvements that are reasonably related to the development. The school impact fee shall account in 
the fee calculation for future revenue the district will receive from the development. The resolution 
adopting the fee schedule shall specify under what circumstances the fee may be adjusted in the 
interests of fairness. 
 

19.40.080 Use of funds.  
School impact fees for the district’s system improvements shall be expended by the district only for capital 
improvements, including, but not limited to, school planning, land acquisition, site improvements, 
necessary off-site improvements, construction, engineering, architectural, permitting, financing, and 
administrative expenses, relocatable facilities, capital equipment pertaining to educational facilities, and 
any other expenses that could be capitalized and are consistent with the district’s capital facilities plan. 

19.40.090 Impact fee accounts; payment. 
(1) The district shall establish a school impact fee account. The account shall be an interest-bearing 

account, and the school impact fees received shall be prudently invested in a manner consistent with 
the investment policies of the district. 
 

(2) For administrative convenience while processing the fee payments, school impact fees may be 
temporarily deposited in a City account. On a monthly basis, the City shall deposit the school impact 
fees collected for the district in the district’s school impact fee account. 

 

 
 
 

105 of 122



RESOLUTION NO. 15-2016 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 15-12 TO ADD AN 
ADMINISTRATIVE FEE OF $143.00 FOR IMPACT FEE 
DEFERRAL REQUESTS.  

WHEREAS, certain sections of the Covington Municipal Code (CMC) authorize the City 
of Covington (the “City”) to charge an administrative fee for services; and 

WHEREAS, the city council passed Ordinance No.16-2016 at their regular council 
meeting on August 9, 2016, establishing a new Title 19 CMC, Impact Fees, including a new impact 
fee deferral program required by state law; and 

WHEREAS, Section 19.20.050 CMC authorizes the City to collect an administrative fee 
for impact fee deferral requests pursuant to the City’s current fee resolution; and 

WHEREAS, the city council desires to amend the City’s current 2016 fee resolution to 
add a non-refundable administrative fee of $143.00 (the current equivalent of one hour of 
community development staff time) for impact fee deferral requests; 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Covington as 
follows: 

Section 1. Fee Resolution Amended; Adoption of Fee. Resolution No. 15-12, adopting 
the City’s 2016 fee schedule, is hereby amended to add a new, non-refundable administrative fee 
of $143.00 for impact fee deferral requests. All other provisions of Resolution 15-12 shall remain 
unchanged.  

Section 2. Fee Waiver. The city manager shall have the right to waive all or part of a fee 
assessed by the City if deemed in the best interest of the City.  

ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Covington, Washington, in open and regular 
session this 9th day of August, 2016, and signed in authentication of its adoption. 

_____________________________________ 
          Mayor, Jeff Wagner 

ATTESTED: 

_____________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

_____________________________________ 
Sara Springer, City Attorney 

ATTACHMENT 3

106 of 122



Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: July 12, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:   APPOINTMENTS TO OPENINGS ON THE COVINGTON ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL (CEDC).  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Regan Bolli, City Manager 
         
ATTACHMENT(S): See Interview Schedule and Applications provided separately. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:     
Five CEDC terms expired on July 31, 2016.  Three of these terms are to be appointed by the City 
of Covington.  Each term is for a period of two years.  The city received four applications for 
appointment to CEDC.  All applicants reside or work inside Covington city limits. 
 
Note:  Adam Turley was appointed by the Covington Chamber Board to the Chamber side of 
CEDC on July 28. 
 
Name of Applicant          
Jon Steve (interviewed July 12) 
Laura Roth (interviewed July 12; CEDC term ended 07/31/2016) 
Adam Turley (interviewed July 12) – Appointed to the Chamber side of CEDC on July 28 
Matt McMahen (interviewed July 12) 
   
ALTERNATIVES: 
Not appoint at this time and direct staff to continue to advertise for additional applicants. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____ Ordinance            Resolution      X     Motions              Other  

 
Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _______________ to fill a position on the Covington 
Economic Development Council with a term expiring July 31, 2018.  
 
Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _______________ to fill a position on the Covington 
Economic Development Council with a term expiring July 31, 2018.  
 
Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _______________ to fill a position on the Covington 
Economic Development Council with a term expiring July 31, 2018.  
 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager 
   

107 of 122



 Agenda Item 3   
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  PARKS AND RECREATION PRIORITIES ADVISORY COMMITTEE (PRePAC) 

FINAL RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Ethan Newton, Parks & Recreation Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Final Recommendation Report 
 
PREPARED BY:  Ethan Newton, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The PRePAC has been meeting monthly since September 2015 and now in accordance with the 
committee’s charter is providing a report that includes its recommendations. The committee 
completed a parks tour, received staff reports from park and recreation divisions and finance, 
reviewed the city’s Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan and Capital Improvement Program 
Plan, engaged the public at Covington Days and discussed at length the two overarching 
questions assigned to the committee in their charter:  
 

1. How should Covington parks and recreation grow to meet the community’s adopted 
goal? 

 
2. How should Covington pay for it? 

 
A draft report was shared with the Parks and Recreation Commission and finalized thereafter. 
The attached final report is the result of PRePAC’s review of information, discussions, and 
deliberation on recommendations that have taken place over the last year. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
None. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
None. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance          Resolution          Motion     X    Other 
 

NO ACTION NECESSARY – DISCUSSION ITEM ONLY 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 

108 of 122



    PRePAC Report R.7.27.16, Page 1 

PRePAC Report 
We, the members of PRePAC, the Parks & Recreation Priorities Advisory Committee, 
provide the following report as our recommendation to Covington City Council. 

Since September 2015, the members of the PRePAC have met on a monthly basis tasked 
with making recommendations to the city council in response to: “How should Covington’s 
parks & recreation system grow to meet the community’s adopted goals” and “How should 
we pay for it?” 

In addition to the many presentations by city staff, PRePAC considered the city’s vision for 
an “Unmatched Quality of Life,” as well as content from the PROS Plan and the following 
goals: 

Taking into consideration the small, but statistically valid, survey administered recently to 
Covington residents, we have come to an agreement that not all parks and recreational 
needs can possibly be funded at the current level of interest and within the city’s ability to 
fund. Therefore, in order to guide the city in our community’s expectations of realistic 
growth in Parks & Recreation, we make the following recommendations as to priorities in 
Covington.  

City Council Goals 

 Economic Development
 Town Center
 Youth & Families
 Neighborhoods
 Municipal Services
 Customer Service

PROS Plan Goals 

 Community Engagement &
Communication

 Recreation Programming
 Parks, Recreation Open Space &

Trail System
 Natural Areas & Greenspaces
 Trails & Pathways
 Park Planning

ATTACHMENT 1

109 of 122



    PRePAC Report R.7.27.16, Page 2 
         

 

 

Priorities 

In the short-term, we identify the need for funding maintenance of current parks and trails to 
ensure their safe condition, to prevent costly deterioration, to prevent possible closures, and to 
safeguard the city’s liability risks. (Maintenance funding needs to be addressed in the short term, 
but is also considered a long-term priority.) 

Citizens express the interest, and we as a committee support, continuous commitment to the 
maintenance and further availability of the Aquatics program. Therefore, the committee strongly 
recommends an immediate inspection and assessment of the pool and building’s actual condition 
to include, but not limited to, an analysis of its life expectancy, the cost of improvements, and 
identification of and cost of maintenance to continue its operation as long as possible with strong 
regard to financial consideration. In short, exactly how long and for how much money can we 
expect to have a pool? 

As members of the community, we support the residents’ interest in seeing dog parks and more 
multi-use paved trails, including but not limited to, bike trails, walking trails, and hiking trails. 
Though we were advised that paved sidewalks do not fall under Parks & Recreation, the committee 
would like to note the needs for expansion of paved sidewalks connecting neighborhoods, schools, 
and areas within our city. 

The availability of larger plots of land within city limits is becoming scarce. Land acquisition 
should remain on the forefront of all decision making and opportunity building as a guidepost to 
our future park development.  

The committee suggests that the city consider annexation of more land, including, but not limited 
to, the nearby unincorporated area of King County and possibly any Department of Natural 
Resources land in the area. Additionally, whenever possible, sharing park space with hospitals, the 
school district, etc., should be explored. (Land acquisition needs to be addressed in the short term, 
but is also considered a long-term priority by the committee.) 

Based on community input, the committee recommends that the city maintains its current level of 
youth programming and athletics as well as community events. The city shall continue to be 
responsive to the growth and changing needs of our community. 

Actions Toward Funding Solutions 

In the short-term, the committee recommends:  

 Grant opportunities, from organizations such as the Washington State Recreation and 
Conservation Office, King County Youth Sports, Federal Land & Water Conservation 

 Private Donations 
 Expanding the new park impact fees into commercial development as it draws customer 

base and new residents and therefore brings in more users of our parks and recreational 
areas/facilities 

 User Fees 
 Partnerships      

Priorities – Short-Term (1-2 Years) 

110 of 122



    PRePAC Report R.7.27.16, Page 3 
         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

The committee recommends communications start now and with thoughtful planning, with as 
much data and input to include a composite of the economic spectrum, and be inclusive of age, 
gender, race, and ethnic background. The committee recommends a high priority on community 
education and engagement. 

The committee recommends forming a 501(c)3 parks and recreation foundation immediately. This 
would open the door to the availability of more grant opportunities and would allow a more 
convenient method of the collection of private donations. Additionally, as a non-profit, there 
would be an increase in the potential partnerships with other non-profit groups. A foundation 
increases the visibility of Parks & Recreation, and identifies members of the community that can 
act as advocates. In addition, a foundation would be responsible for cultivating regional 
relationships, and importantly, the foundation should be composed of passionate people who 
would interact and take on the education aspect crucial to funding our vision. It is important that 
the foundation work closely with the city and specifically, the Parks & Recreation Commission. 

Once the foundation is well underway, the committee recommends that the city run a 
maintenance levy before Phase 2 of Covington Community Park is complete. It is important that 
the levy appear on a ballot during the park’s visible construction. These funds would be used to 
correct the deficiencies in our existing parks, such as Jenkins Creek Park, as well as accommodate 
the needs of new trails, parks, and facilities. 

The committee recommends that another PRePAC be formed and running within two years to 
ensure recommended actions are moving forward and to make updates as appropriate and 
necessary. 

To support the city’s goals in promoting community arts and encouraging the development and 
strategic placement of public art features throughout the city, PRePAC supports the Arts 
Commission’s recommendation of a $1 per capita allotment from the general fund, assigned 
specifically and solely to the Arts. 

111 of 122



    PRePAC Report R.7.27.16, Page 4 
         

 

 
 
 

 

Priorities 

To address the community’s need for indoor space for recreational programming, and to explore 
the construction of a facility to include a pool, the committee recommends support of a regional 
recreation center. This would spread the cost among neighboring communities, resolve the 
impending need of a new pool, and guarantee a recreation center within or close to our city. 

 

Actions Toward Funding Solutions 

The committee recommends establishing a Metropolitan Parks District with neighboring 
communities (such as, but not limited to, Maple Valley, Black Diamond, and unincorporated areas 
of King County) to fund a regional recreation center in 5-10 years after a successful maintenance 
levy and after its successful levy renewal 4 years later. If each resident paid $3-$4 per month, 
annual revenues from Covington residents only would be about $500,000, not nearly enough to 
fund a recreation center. Therefore, it is imperative that we support a regional recreation center. It 
is important that the foundation work with neighboring communities years in advance. For funding 
through a Metropolitan Parks District to be successful, all residents in the region must be 
educated, not just Covington.  

 

 

Priorities 

In both existing parks, and already funded future parks, the committee recommends more picnic 
shelters and playgrounds available for younger children and families to use in a safe and clean 
environment. These are gathering places for youth to have games, toddlers to experience their first 
swing, and memorable picnics and events. 

As the population of our city ages and in agreement with the survey results, the committee 
recommends inclusion and expansion of recreational programming for adults and senior citizens. 
The committee recommends identifying partnerships with healthcare and senior living 
communities. 

Actions Toward Funding Solutions 

The committee recommends exploring the same funding solutions identified above such as grants, 
private donations, and partnerships with other organizations. The next PRePAC should investigate 
additional funding options. 

Priorities – Mid-Term (3-5 Years) 

Priorities – Long-Term (5-10 Years) 

112 of 122



    PRePAC Report R.7.27.16, Page 5 
         

In Conclusion 
The committee encourages that the city be mindful of the economic strain placed solely on 
its residents when identifying funding solutions. A few dollars’ increase in property taxes 
each month is a burden to some households. All opportunities to share the expense with 
neighboring communities should be explored, as many residents from other cities and 
unincorporated areas enjoy many of the services offered by the City of Covington. 
Additionally, when educating the public during any campaign for funding, impacts to our 
lowest income citizens should be evaluated and addressed in the formal campaign 
information. 
 
Members of the Parks & Recreation Priorities Advisory Committee expect to be involved in 
the future of Covington Parks & Recreation. Many of us plan to continue to support our 
recommendations herein by being active advocates throughout planning and 
implementation. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to serve our community. We appreciate the knowledge and 
experience gained. 
  

113 of 122



    PRePAC Report R.7.27.16, Page 6 
         

ADDENDUM 
Notes Regarding Engagement and Education Messaging to Our Residents 

 Parks & Recreation enhances communities by increasing property values, benefiting 
the health of its members, promoting public safety, building strong family and 
community ties, and by driving commercial and economic development. It entices 
individuals to want to be a part of our community! 

 We recommend that the city (and future foundation) remove the word “tax” and use 
the word “investment” when communicating, and to be very clear and specific 
regarding financial impact (“do you want to pay $5 per month for this?”). 

 It is important to highlight that the city was savvy in securing grants to pay for the 
majority of Covington Community Park, but that we need to fund maintenance of 
both our major parks. We must educate the community that grant money cannot be 
used for maintenance. 

 Examples of educational outreach include going to HOA meetings, scouting group 
meetings, high schools, etc., to talk about the needs and the funding required. 

 The education component over the years must take into account the potential for 
our demographics to change in the next 5-10 years. 

 Grants are wonderful, and partnering with service clubs, businesses, and non-
profits are all great ideas, but they are not going to build that rock solid foundation. 
What it takes going forward is a long stream of more education on parks and their 
value. Instead of having a discussion about funding, we need to have discussions on 
investments. Is it the citizens’ desire to have great parks and recreation? When they 
say, “yes” to a survey, does that survey really mean that they wish to invest in that 
for great returns? The word “tax” somewhere along the way has taken on the image 
of something bad. A levy or capital improvement bond has to be framed as an 
investment and clearly spelled out what each person will get for that investment. It 
must, if passed, closely follow exactly what we said it would do. Parks are a junior 
taxing source so the lid could be small or even unable to be placed on the ballot. A 
long educational process and many more town hall meetings need to be part of the 
ongoing long term plan. But, it is imperative that the conversation is: are you willing 
to invest $4.00 per month for X?” Are we going to invest in our vision and secure 
and preserve it for future generations? That is “the ask.” 

114 of 122



  Agenda Item 4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 9, 2016 

 
SUBJECT: CONSIDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO AWARD THE SE 256TH 

STREET CULVERT LINING PROJECT (CIP 1145A) TO THE LOWEST 
RESPONSIVE AND RESPONSIBLE BIDDER 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
1.  Engineer’s Estimate for CIP 1145A 
 
PREPARED BY:  Ben Parrish, SWM Program Coordinator 
 
EXPLANATION:  
At the March 22, 2016, city council meeting, city staff informed the council of structural issues 
with the SE 256th Street Little Soos Creek culvert and the possible need for emergency repair 
until a more permanent solution could be devised to replace the failing culvert.  After the initial 
discovery of the structural issues, public works staff placed steel plates on the roadway above 
where the culvert is failing as a precaution until a temporary solution could be designed.   
 
The city has since devised a temporary solution to line the culvert pipe as a temporary 
reinforcement.  The engineer’s estimate for the designed project work is $58,660.  By 
completing this project, the city will have time to acquire funds and design a permanent repair 
for the failing culvert.    
 
On July 26, 2016, the city used the MRSC Small Works Roster to advertise the project (SE 256th 
Street Culvert Lining Project (CIP 1145A).  Bids must be submitted to the city by August 8, 
2016.  At this evening’s council meeting, staff will present the bid results to council and will 
request that the council then consider taking action to authorize the city manager to award the 
project to the identified lowest responsive and responsible bidder, as recommended by city staff. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
1. Delay award until the September 13, 2016, council meeting.  This will delay an award of 

the contract upwards of five weeks and will put construction of this project outside of the 
city’s permitted window to perform construction in fish-bearing streams per our 
Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Hydraulic Project Approval (permit number 
2016-4-499+01).  This may delay the needed repair until next year. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
The budget for this project is $67,500, which is the $58,660 Engineers Estimate + 15% 
contingency.  The 15% contingency cost is budgeted in order to cover unforeseen issues/costs 
associated with bidding.  This project is fully funded with Surface Water Management Funds.  
 
 

115 of 122



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:              Ordinance             Resolution       X     Motion           Other 
 

Council member ______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to award the SE 256th Street Culvert 
Lining Project (CIP 1145A), to ________________________________ , as the 
lowest responsive and responsible bidder, in the amount of _______________.  

 
REVIEWED BY:   City Manager, Finance Director, City Attorney 

116 of 122



Culvert Repair Project

SE 256th Street Existing Culvert Lining Project July, 2016
KMW

Final Quantity Summary

Construction Work:
Install silt/high visibility fencing and temporary traffic control at shoulders.  Remove beam guardrail, provide clearing and access at
north culvert inlet.  Establish temporary creek diversion, install culvert pipe liner in east culvert, and cap ends with low shrink dry pack grout.
Shift temporary creek diversion, install culvert pipe liner in west culvert, and cap ends with low shrink dry pack grout. (NO GROUT OPTION)
Remove temporary creek diversion, restore access area as required, re-install beam guardrail, and remove temporary traffic control.

Item STD. STD. TOTAL UNIT
# Bid Item # Section ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNITS COST COST

PREPARATION
1 0001 1-09 Mobilization (10%) 1 L.S. $4,464.00 $4,464
2 0035 2-02 Clearing and Grubbing 1 L.S. $500.00 $500

Subtotal $4,964
DRAINAGE

3 S.P. 7-02 30-Inch Diam. Culvert Pipe Liner 1 L.S. $34,840.00 $34,840
4 S.P. 7-06 Temporary Creek Diversion 1 L.S. $6,500.00 $6,500

Subtotal $41,340
EROSION CONTROL & PLANTING

5 6490 8-01 Erosion/Water Pollution Control 1 Est. $500.00 $500
6 6373 8-01 Silt Fencing 50 L.F. $12.00 $600
7 6630 1-07 High Visibility Fence 60 L.F. $10.00 $600

Subtotal $1,700
TRAFFIC

8 6780 8-11 Removing and Resetting Beam Guardrail 24 L.F. $25.00 $600
9 6971 1-10 Project Temporary Traffic Control 1 L.S. $500.00 $500

CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL = $49,104

8.6% Sales Tax $4,223
10% Contingency $5,333

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION COST = $58,660

SE 256th St Costs Alts.xlsx ISE, PLLC

ATTACHMENT 1

117 of 122



 Agenda Item 5  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER OPTIONS FOR 20TH ANNIVERSARY CELEBRATION 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Karla Slate, Communications and Marketing Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):    
1.  Proposed options for 20th anniversary promotions  
 
PREPARED BY:  Karla Slate, Communications and Marketing Manager 
 
EXPLANATION:     
In 2017, the City of Covington will celebrate its 20th year as an incorporated city. The official 
anniversary date is August 31. The City Council desires to acknowledge, promote and celebrate 
this anniversary throughout 2017 in a variety of ways. Staff recommends and has outlined plans 
to integrate the anniversary into pre-existing events and materials. Staff has also included an 
additional list of items that the council may consider adding to the plan.  
 
ALTERNATIVES:    
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
See attachment. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____Ordinance   _____Resolution           Motion           Other  
 

Discussion only. 
 
 

 
 

118 of 122



City of Covington – 20th Anniversary Plan/Proposal 
1997-2017 

Kick-Off – December 3, 2016 
• Announce the anniversary at the 2016 Covington Tree Lighting Event
• Provide attendees with a 2017 Calendar of Events highlighting the city’s 2017 events,

highlighting those in which the anniversary is spotlighted.

Logo Integration 
• Create an anniversary “tag” to add to and compliment the city logo for 2017.
• Update city letterhead with anniversary logo for use during 2017.
• Use anniversary logo on all marketing materials in 2017.

Event Integration 
• Update event/booth materials to reflect the anniversary throughout 2017 (banners, flyers,

posters, giveaways, etc.)
• Integrate anniversary into key pre-existing city events/programs

o Student Art Show – develop an anniversary theme for students to base their art around
o Arbor Day/Earth Day – one idea could be planting 20 trees in honor of 20th anniversary
o Covington Days Festival - establish an anniversary theme for the overall festival and

integrate into the parade and parade awards

Timeline 
• Create a 20-year timeline (1997-2017) with key points in time for the city.
• Create a 20-year look into the future – what does the city have planned or hope to accomplish in

the next 20 years (2017-2037).
o Consider printing and displaying these in the city hall lobby, at city booths during events,

and/or on the website.

Birthday Celebration* – Thursday, August 31, 2017 
• Throw a birthday party open to the community (*Would require budget allocation)

Wrap-Up – December 2, 2017 
• Close out the anniversary year at the 2017 Covington Tree Lighting Event with a verbal wrap-up

and thank you to community for helping to celebrate over the year.
• Giveaway a commemorative 20th anniversary ornament to residents.

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

ATTACHMENT 1

119 of 122



Additional Considerations 
• Produce a commemorative 20th Anniversary Item (a coin, pin, calendar, or other item) 

o Impact: cost of custom item ($500-$2500 depending on item and quantity) 
 

• Hang Street Pole Banners highlighting the City/Anniversary 
o Within City Hall complex (271st St. and 167th Pl SE) x12 
o Along SE 270th St 
o Within a targeted area on Kent Kangley 
o Impact: cost of banner $80; cost of install $80 

 
 

• Redesign City Entry Signs (“Welcome to Covington Metal Signs”) to reflect anniversary. 
o Impact: cost of metal signs = $40 each + staff time to install 

 
• Business Partnerships - Encouraging CEDC to develop a business program to highlight the 20th 

anniversary (example: 20% off deals in celebration of 20th anniversary during the city’s birthday 
month or on the city’s actual birthday) 

o Impact: CEDC workplan/time 
 

• Geocaching Event – Getting to know Covington, highlighting anniversary, commemorative prizes 
o Impact: cost of prizes and possibly hiring expert help 

 
• Time Capsule – Consider establishing a Covington time capsule to be opened at the city’s 50th or 

100th year anniversary (2047 or 2097) and presenting it at the city’s birthday party. 
 

120 of 122



Covington City Council Meeting 
           Date:  August 9, 2016 

DISCUSSION OF  
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS: 

Tuesday, August 23, 2016 
Regular Meeting – CANCELED 

7:00 p.m., Tuesday, September 13, 2016 
 Regular Meeting 

(Draft Agendas Attached) 

121 of 122



 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 
Tuesday, September 13, 2016                                                                                            City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
  
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

• Mayor’s Day of Concern for the Hungry Proclamation – Saturday, September 17, 2016 ((Lila 
Henderson, Executive Director, Maple Valley Food Bank) 

• Safe Schools Week Proclamation – Week of October ___ - ____, 2016 (______________) 
• Fire Prevention Week Proclamation – Week of October ___ - ___, 2016 (_______________) 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows. * 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  August 9, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
1. Discuss and Provide Direction for King County Community Van Program (Hart) 
2. 2016 Second Quarter Financial Report (Hendrickson) 

 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – if needed 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 

Draft 
as of 08/04/16 

 

122 of 122

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/

	08-09-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, August 9, 2016                                                                                                      City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 08-09-2016 Green Sheet Minutes Approval
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent C-1 Attachment 1 07.26.2016 Special Joint Mtg w-P&R Commission
	Consent C-1 Attachment 2 07.26.2016 Special & Regular Meeting Minutes
	Consent C-2 Green Sheet 08-09-2016 Voucher Green Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-2

	Consent C-2 Attachments
	Consent C-3 Green Sheet 08-09-16 CWD Addendum to ILA for CIP 1127
	Consent Agenda Item C-3

	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 08-09-16 Attachment 1 Addendum to CWD ILA
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Exhibit A 08-09-16 EXHIBIT A CAG 629-04
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Exhibit B 08-09-16 EXHIBIT B Addendum to CWD ILA Tetra Tech
	WORK ELEMENT 18.  Covington Water District Water System Design

	Consent C-4 Green Sheet 08-09-16 Kent ILA for CIP 1127
	Consent Agenda Item C-4

	Consent C-4 Attachment 1 08-09-16 Kent ILA Attachment 1
	2. Definitions.
	3. Offered Contracted Services.
	4. Request for Services.
	4.5.1. Allocation of Costs for Shared Bid Items.
	5. Project Completion; Acceptance.
	6. Joint and Cooperative Purchasing.
	7. Administration.
	For Covington:
	With a copy to:
	For Kent:
	With a copy to:
	11. Termination.
	14. Independent Service Provider.
	15. Miscellaneous.
	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties below execute this Agreement, herein.
	EXHIBIT A
	Work Element 19.1 Coordination
	Deliverable(s):

	Work Element 19.2 Project QA/QC
	Deliverable(s):

	Work Element 19.3 Concept Design & Construction Sequence
	Deliverable(s)

	Work Element 19.4 Utility Coordination Associated with Water Main Design
	Deliverable(s)

	Work Element 19.5 30% Design PS&E
	Deliverable(s):

	Work Element 19.6 60% Design PS&E
	Deliverable(s):

	Work Element 19.7 90% Design PS&E
	Deliverable(s):

	Work Element 19.8 100% Design PS&E
	Deliverable(s):

	Work Element 19.9 Final Design PS&E
	Deliverable(s):


	EXHIBIT B
	EXHIBIT B


	Item 1 Blue Sheet _Impact Fee Deferral Program_Final 081916
	Agenda Item 1

	Item 1 Attachment 1_072616 Mtg_Blue Sheet _Impact Fee Deferral Program
	Agenda Item 4

	Item 1 Attachment 2 ORD_Title 19 IMPACT FEES_DEFERRAL PRGM_8AUG2016MTG
	Item 1 Attachment 2 EXH_A_TITLE 19_CMC_IMPACT FEES_09AUG16MTG_SBSEDIT
	TITLE 19
	IMPACT FEES


	Item 1 Attachment 3_RESOLUTION_Amend_FEE SCHEDULE_9AUG2016MTG_SBSEDIT
	Item 2 Blue Sheet 08-09-2016 CEDC Appointment
	Agenda Item 2

	Item 3 Blue Sheet PRePAC Report Bluesheet
	Agenda Item 3

	Item 3 Attachment 1 PRePAC Report 27 Jul 2016
	Item 4 BLUESHEET_08-09-16 SE 256th Street Culvert Lining Project Contract Award_SBSEDIT
	Item 4 Attachment 1 UPDATED SE 256th St Costs Alts
	Item 5 Blue Sheet 08-09-16 20th Anniversary Proposal Blue Sheet
	Agenda Item 5

	Item 5 Attachment 1 AnniversaryPlan
	Future Agenda Cover Sheet for Two Meetings
	09-13-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, September 13, 2016                                                                                            City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA




